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BRAD GREEN - INTERIM CEO
Brad Green has been President of PLC since May of 2018 and Interim CEO since March of 2020. Mr. Green 
has over 14 years of experience in the funeral and cemetery profession.  For the past four years, Mr. Green has 
served as a founder, owner and the CEO of Signature. Prior to founding Signature, he was the Executive Vice 
President and General Counsel of Carriage Services, Inc., wherein he completely restructured and rebuilt the 
legal, human resources, payroll, and training functions. Additionally, he built and led the day to day operation of 
the acquisition team.  In addition to his industry experience, Mr. Green is a licensed attorney with an extensive 
legal background, including work at two international law firms and serving as the General Counsel for a large, 
international transportation company.

JEFF PARKER - CHIEF TECHNOLOGY OFFICER
Jeff Parker joined PLC as an executive officer and Chief Technology Officer in June of 2018. He brings over 40 
years of IT experience and 20 years of funeral and cemetery experience. Mr. Parker began his IT career with IBM 
in the late 1970s, wrote code to guide Maverick Missiles in the 1980s, joined his father in the energy industry in 
the 1990s, and started in the funeral and cemetery business at the urging of a friend that was providing hardware 
to one of the largest publicly traded death care consolidators in the industry in 1998. Mr. Parker’s 20 years in the 
industry includes roles such as Manager of Offsite Systems, Manager of Application Development, and Director of 
Information Systems. He was also the principal architect of the software system that currently runs one of the largest 
public funeral and cemetery businesses in the U.S.

JAY DODDS - CHIEF OPERATIONS OFFICER
Jay Dodds has been Chief Operations Officer of PLC since May of 2018. Mr. Dodds has over 35 years of 
experience in the funeral and cemetery profession.  He holds a funeral directors and embalmers license in both 
Texas and New Mexico.  In addition, he is a certified cremation operator. Mr. Dodds served as founder, owner 
and President/COO of Signature.  Prior to founding Signature, he was the Executive Vice President and Chief 
Operating Officer of another U.S. publicly traded company where he served in a senior operations leadership 
role for 17 years.  Over his career, he has directly managed businesses in every region of the U.S. Mr. Dodds 
currently serves as President-Elect of the International Cemetery Cremation and Funeral Association (ICCFA), 
Trustee for the Funeral Service Foundation, the ICCFA Educational Foundation and a board member of the Pierce 
Mortuary Colleges.   

LINDA GILBERT - VP, FINANCE & ADMINISTRATION
Linda Gilbert joined PLC as the Director of Finance in September 2014, and in March 2016 was appointed the VP, 
Finance and Administration. Ms. Gilbert is a chartered accountant and brings over 20 years of finance experience 
in public companies. Prior to joining PLC, she was an Independent Director of Envoy Capital Group and acted as a 
member of the Audit Committee, Compensation Committee and Nominating Committee and as Chair of the 
Corporate Governance Committee. She has previously held the positions of Vice President, Chief Financial Officer 
and Director of Finance at Envoy Communications Group Inc. Ms. Gilbert also has experience as an independent 
consultant and has consulted for various companies on financial management, analysis and reporting.

Executive Officers & Directors

JOSEPH LEEDER - CFO

Joseph Leeder has been Chief Financial Officer of PLC since July 2013. Mr. Leeder is a Chartered 
Accountant and was a Partner in the Toronto office of KPMG LLP from 1990 to 1997. After leaving KPMG, 
Mr. Leeder held the position of Chief Financial Officer at two publicly listed companies.

CLARK HARLOW - VP, FINANCE - USA
Clark Harlow joined PLC as VP, Finance-USA in May of 2018. Mr. Harlow has over 27 years of experience in 
various accounting and executive roles across several industries, of which 20 years have been in the funeral and 
cemetery profession. He joined Signature Group in 2015 as an owner and its Chief Financial Officer. Mr. Harlow 
had previously led the finance, accounting and M&A functions in private and publicly listed companies.  

JENNIFER HAY - GENERAL COUNSEL
Jennifer Hay joined PLC in 2018 as Associate General Counsel and was appointed General Counsel in February of 
2020.  Ms. Hay has been a licensed attorney since 2001 and has approximately 7 years of experience working 
directly within the funeral and cemetery industry.  Ms. Hay has a wide breadth of legal expertise with over 10 years 
of in-house experience advising and serving as counsel for public companies including two international companies.  
Prior to joining PLC, Ms. Hay served in numerous capacities for Whole Foods Market, Inc., LDR Spine USA, Inc. and 
Carriage Services, Inc.  In these roles, she has developed, led and had oversight over various functions including 
Legal, Human Resources and Safety and Risk Management.

LORIE JOHNSON - VP, HUMAN RESOURCES
Lorie Johnson joined PLC as VP, Human Resources in May of 2018. Ms. Johnson has over 11 years of experience 
in the funeral and cemetery profession, and she joined Signature in 2014 as its Chief Administrative Officer.  Ms. 
Johnson has over 30 years of experience in all aspects of organizational administration, human resources, training 
and people development. In her role as VP, Human Resources, she leads, facilitates and participates in 
organizational development and effectiveness across an employee’s full life cycle with the company.  At Signature, 
she had oversight over all aspects of Human Resources, Training, Safety and Risk Management, as well as 
Administration and Information Technology.  Ms. Johnson is an HRCI and SHRM certified Senior Human Resource 
Professional.
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PAUL G. SMITH - CHAIRMAN OF THE BOARD
Paul G. Smith has been a director of PLC since May 2016 and Chairman since March of 2020.  Mr. Smith 
serves on the Audit Committee, Human Resources & Compensation Committee, Governance & Nominating 
Committee and Investment Committee. Over his career, Mr. Smith has held the positions of Chief Financial 
Officer, Chief Executive Officer, director and Chairman. He was Chair of VIA Rail Canada Inc.’s Board of 
Directors from 2010 to 2014 after having joined the board in September 2006 and was President and Chief 
Executive Officer of Equity Financial Holdings Inc. (TSX: EQI), a Canadian financial services firm he co-
founded whose principal subsidiary is an OSFI-regulated deposit-taking institution. Mr. Smith is a director of 
several companies and, before joining the private sector, served as Executive Assistant to the Prime Minister of 
Canada. Mr. Smith holds a Master of Business Administration from INSEAD (France), a Master of Arts in Public 
Administration from Carleton University, and undergraduate degrees (Accounting, Political Science) from the 
University of Ottawa. Mr. Smith completed the Directors Education Program of the Institute of Corporate 
Directors and holds the ICD.D designation.

AMY FREEDMAN - DIRECTOR
Amy Freedman has been the Chief Executive Officer of Kingsdale Advisors, a shareholder services and 
advisory firm specializing in strategic and defensive advisory, governance advisory, proxy and voting analytics 
and investor communications, since 2017 having joined the company in 2014 as Executive Vice President.  A 
seasoned capital markets professional, with over 14 years of experience in investment banking, Ms. Freedman 
began her career at Morgan Stanley in New York where she spent approximately four years executing lead 
managed equity transactions and client coverage.  Thereafter, Ms. Freedman moved back to Toronto with 
National Bank Financial and most recently served as Managing Director, Equity Capital Markets for Stifel 
where she spent eight years with the organization and its predecessors.  Ms. Freedman has extensive 
experience leading transaction management and positioning companies for success in the marketplace across 
a broad spectrum of industries.  Ms. Freedman obtained her JD/MBA from the University of Toronto.

MARILYN BROPHY - DIRECTOR
Marilyn Brophy is a retired senior investment executive and former Managing Director, Head of Equity 
Research at CIBC Asset Management, where she served for eight years.  Prior to joining CIBC, Ms. 
Brophy was the Director, Equity Research at UBS Global Asset Management (Canada) Co. for 
approximately seven years.  Ms. Brophy is an accomplished business leader with substantial experience in 
multiple disciplines including investment management, equity capital markets, company strategic 
analysis, risk assessment and the development of organizational capability.  Most recently, she acted as 
a builder and leader of one of Canada’s largest buy-side equity research teams.  Alongside this role, she 
also co-managed approximately $5 billion of equity assets on behalf of institutional and retail investors.  
Ms. Brophy holds a Master of Business Administration from Queen’s University, Master of Arts – 
Economics from McMaster University, Bachelor of Arts – BA, Honours – Economics from Queen’s 
University, Chartered Director designation from The Directors College, and the Chartered Financial Analyst 
designation from the CFA Institute.

DEBORAH ROBINSON - DIRECTOR
Deborah Robinson has been a director of PLC since June of 2018 and serves as the chair of the Human Resources 
& Compensation Committee and sits on the Governance & Nominating Committee. Ms. Robinson is the founder 
and President of Bay Street HR, an outsourced human resources service provider to small and mid-sized financial 
and professional service firms. Prior to founding Bay Street HR, Ms. Robinson was Executive Director at CIBC World 
Markets, where she oversaw human resources for global Investment Banking. She also held senior HR positions at 
Fidelity Investments and American Express in Boston and New York City. Ms. Robinson sits on the board and is the 
Chair of the Governance and Compensation Committee of Canada Jetlines Ltd. (TSX-V: JET). From 2014-2017 she 
was a Director, member of the Human Resources and Compensation Committee and member of the Corporate 
Governance, Risk, and Strategy Committee of VIA Rail Canada Inc. Ms. Robinson holds a Bachelor’s degree and is 
also a graduate of the Directors Education Program of the Institute of Corporate Directors and holds the ICD.D 
designation.

JOHN WARD - DIRECTOR
John Ward has been a director of PLC since August 2013 and serves on the Audit Committee, and the 
Governance & Nominating Committee. Mr. Ward is a fourth generation Funeral Director and 
co-owner at Ward Funeral Homes Limited, a highly respected independent funeral operator in the 
Greater Toronto Area, and is actively involved in the funeral industry in Ontario, having previously 
served as Chairman of the Board of Guaranteed Funeral Deposit.  Mr. Ward was also a member of 
the Board of Funeral Services in Ontario from September 2012 to March 2017.

STEVEN R. SCOTT - DIRECTOR

Steven R. Scott has been a director of PLC since April 2014 and serves as the Audit Committee chair. Mr. Scott is 
the Chairman and Chief Executive Officer of StorageVault Canada Inc. (TSXV: SVI) and an owner and Chief 
Executive Officer of The Access Group of Companies.  He has over 20 years of experience in the ownership, 
acquisition, development and management of self storage, residential and commercial real estate in Canada.  Mr. 
Scott serves as an Independent Director and Audit Committee Chair of Timbercreek Financial Corporation (TSX: 
TF) and as Director and Treasurer of the Canadian Self Storage Association (CSSA). He holds a Bachelor of 
Commerce degree and the CPA and CA designations.           
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A YEAR OF DELIVERY 

For Park Lawn Corporation, 2019 was yet another transformative year with robust acquisition growth, solidifying our position 
as one of the fastest growing and most respected businesses in our industry. We invested approximately $180 million to acquire 
six strategic businesses during the year, which included three well-established businesses in new, large metropolitan markets: 
Cress Funeral and Cremation Service in greater Madison, Wisconsin; Baue Funeral Homes, Crematory, and Cemetery in greater 
St. Louis, Missouri; and Horan & McConaty Funeral Homes and Cemeteries in greater Denver, Colorado. These businesses not 
only represent the preeminent funeral home and cemetery businesses in their respective markets, but are known as innovative 
industry leaders, and I am extremely proud to have them as part of the PLC family. 

In addition to acquisitions, we also dedicated significant resources to the successful integration of our legacy businesses in both 
Canada and the U.S. As part of our integration and growth strategy, we invested in people, our most important resource, as well 
as additional infrastructure in both our Toronto and Houston support offices. While we were able to successfully integrate the 
operations and human resources systems of four of the five legacy U.S. acquisitions, we will continue our integration focus in 
2020 with the goal of recognizing increased efficiencies at all levels of PLC. 

With the integration of our operating platform, we have increased stability across our portfolio. This has allowed us not only to 
continue our expansion in North America but, importantly, to capitalize on organic growth. Our dedicated teams continue to 
innovate and deliver premier product and service to the communities they serve, which has provided us with ongoing 
opportunities to enhance our service, expand cemetery developments and increase inventory. 

SERVING OUR COMMUNITIES IN UNCERTAIN TIMES 

In a normal environment, this letter would solely focus on 2019, but as a result of the COVID-19 pandemic, we are far from a 
normal environment. In fact, as I write this letter, 2019 seems like the far distant past. We continue to adjust and adapt to the 
daily changes resulting from the COVID-19 pandemic; however, one thing has remained consistent from the beginning of the 
pandemic: PLC team members remain steadfast in their commitment to not only serve, but lead, their communities through this 
crisis. They demonstrate this commitment each and every day through their unrelenting desire to remain open and available to 
provide the families they serve with an opportunity to honor their loved ones. I am not surprised by the dedication of the PLC 
team. As a matter of fact, I absolutely expected it from them. After all, this is what they do all day, every day, pandemic or no 
pandemic. They are the definition of “essential” to the communities that they serve. I am proud to be a part of the PLC team 
and am humbled to be their leader during these difficult times.   

MOVING FORWARD TOGETHER 

Although part of our strategy is to grow through acquisitions, our shareholders can rest assured that PLC is an operating 
company, not a consolidating company.  Our operational leaders work in the businesses alongside their respective teams and 
rely on decades of experience as opposed to theories found in management treatises, empty initiatives and catch phrases. As we 
navigate these challenging times, we continue to grow stronger together through collaboration and the desire to learn from and 
embrace the new operating environment. Although we cannot predict what is to come, rest assured the PLC team will continue 
to operate our businesses as if we each were individual owners in every one of them. 

In my very short period of time as interim CEO, I have personally witnessed the unwavering support of many of our 
shareholders. I would like to thank all of you for your continued support during these unprecedented times as we continue to 
deal with the current pandemic, together, head-on, and with high energy and resolve. 

J. Bradley Green
Interim CEO



 
 

 

Dear Park Lawn Shareholders:  

Park Lawn has been indelibly marked by events – both internal and global – over the course of 2019 and into 
2020. 

As Brad Green mentions in his letter to you, during this period, the Company has grown into one of the premier 
operators in North America.  That growth is thanks to the leadership and abilities of the Company’s 
management team, led by Mr. Green and Jay Dodds, the Company’s Chief Operating Officer, who are amongst 
the best and most highly regarded in the industry.  They, along with the Board, believe in the stability of the 
Company today and that it will emerge from the COVID-19 pandemic sound and strong. 

The period also saw the departure of the Company’s long-serving Chair & CEO, Andrew Clark.  Efforts at 
finding a successor began but were hampered by the logistical challenges posed by the pandemic and Mr. Green 
agreed to take on the CEO responsibility on an interim basis.  He has discharged those duties admirably and 
has quickly gained the confidence of shareholders. 

As the Company prepares itself for its next period of growth, the Board has taken steps to further its oversight 
of the Company and its governance practices.  Specifically, we have: 

• Split the roles of Chair and CEO; 
• Enhanced the skillset and achieved gender balance with the addition of the two highly qualified 

individuals standing for election to the Board; 
• Removed the Company’s CFO from the Board; and 
• Expended efforts at identifying a US-based director with relevant industry experience.  Those efforts 

were also paused by challenges associated with the pandemic but will resume when possible.  

The Board of Directors also placed increased emphasis on shareholder engagement, to complement the work 
of management, by soliciting views on the Company’s strategy and direction.  These efforts will continue. 

Lastly, I want to thank those directors not standing for re-election for their dedication and service to the 
Company.   

On behalf of each of the directors, we thank you for the confidence you have placed in us. 

 

Yours very sincerely,  

 
Paul G. Smith 
Chair of the Board of Directors 
 



  

  

 
 

 

MANAGEMENT’S DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS 

For the Year Ending December 31, 2019 

 

 

The following Management’s Discussion and Analysis (“MD&A”) provides a review of corporate and market 

developments, results of operations and financial position of Park Lawn Corporation (“PLC” or the 

“Company”) for the year ended December 31, 2019. This discussion should be read in conjunction with the 

consolidated financial statements for the year ended December 31, 2019 and the accompanying notes contained 

therein. Information contained in this MD&A is based on information available to management as of March 

30, 2020.  

 

Forward-Looking Information 

 

All information other than statements of current and historical fact contained in this MD&A is forward-looking 

information. In certain cases, forward-looking information can be identified by the use of words such as 

“plans”, “expects”, “budget”, “scheduled”, “estimates”, “forecasts”, “intends”, “anticipates” or “believes”, or 

variations of such words and phrases or state that certain actions, events or results “may”, “could”, “would”, 

“might” or “will”, “occur” or “be achieved” and similar words or the negative thereof. The forward-looking 

information contained herein is expressly qualified in its entirety by this cautionary statement. 

 

Forward-looking information in this MD&A includes, but is not limited to, statements regarding the impact of 

COVID-19 on the business, the growth targets that PLC aspires to achieve by the end of 2022, future earnings 

generated by recent acquisitions completed by the Company, expected synergies, the Company’s business 

generally, future development and construction, future financial position and business strategy, the deathcare 

industry, potential acquisitions, potential business partnering, litigation, the ability of the Company to procure 

additional sales from new and existing customers, and the Company’s plans and objectives. By their nature, 

forward-looking information is inherently uncertain, is subject to risk and is based on numerous assumptions, 

including those set out under the heading “Outlook” in PLC’s management’s discussion and analysis for the 

second quarter of 2018 (filed on SEDAR on August 14, 2018), that recent acquisitions perform as expected, 

PLC will be able to implement business improvements and achieve cost savings, PLC will be able to retain key 

personnel, there will be no unexpected expenses occurring as a result of the acquisitions, multiples remain at 

or below levels paid by PLC for previously announced acquisitions, the CAD to USD exchange rate remains 

consistent, the acquisition and financing markets remain accessible, capital can be obtained at reasonable costs 

and PLC’s current business lines operate and obtain synergies as expected, as well as those regarding present 

and future business strategies, the environment in which the Company will operate in the future, expected 

revenues, expansion plans and the Company’s ability to achieve its goals. Although management of the 

Company believes that the expectations represented in such forward-looking information are reasonable, there 

can be no assurance that such expectations will prove to be correct. 
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The future outcomes that relate to forward-looking information may be influenced by many factors that could 

cause actual future results, conditions, actions or events to differ materially from the targets, expectations, 

estimates or intentions expressed in the forward-looking information, including, but not limited to, the risks 

associated with the current COVID-19 pandemic and the other risk factors described under the heading “Risk 

Factors” in the Company’s most recent Annual Information Form. The Company cautions that such list of 

factors is not exhaustive, and when relying on forward-looking information to make decisions with respect to 

the Company, readers should carefully consider these factors, as well as other uncertainties and potential events, 

and the inherent uncertainty of forward-looking information. 

 

There can be no assurance that forward-looking information will prove to be accurate, as actual results and 

future events could differ materially from those anticipated in such information. Accordingly, readers should 

not place undue reliance on forward-looking information. Forward-looking information is provided as of the 

date of this MD&A or such other date specified herein, and the Company assumes no obligation to update or 

revise such forward-looking information to reflect new events or circumstances except as required under 

applicable securities laws.  

 

Financial Statements and Accounting Policies 

 

The Company prepares its financial statements in Canadian dollars in accordance with International Financial 

Reporting Standards (“IFRS”) applicable to the preparation of consolidated financial statements. The 

Company’s significant accounting policies are summarized in Note 2 to its consolidated annual financial 

statements for the year ended December 31, 2019. PLC’s consolidated financial statements for the year ended 

December 31, 2019, are based on the accounting policies consistent with those disclosed in Note 2 to its 

consolidated annual financial statements for the year ended December 31, 2019.  

 

The preparation of the consolidated financial statements requires management to make certain estimates, 

judgements and assumptions that affect the reported amounts of assets and liabilities at the date of the 

consolidated financial statements and the reported expenses during the period. Actual results could differ from 

these estimates. Significant assumptions about the future and other sources of estimation uncertainty that 

management has made at the end of the reporting period, that could result in a material adjustment to the 

carrying amounts of assets, liabilities, and equity in the event that actual results differ from assumptions made, 

relate to, but are not limited to, the following: 

 

Goodwill valuation 

 

The Company determined its cash generating units (“CGUs”) for the purpose of goodwill impairment testing 

as at December 31, 2019. These CGUs consisted of Northeast, Southeast, Central, Midwest, Southwest, West 

and Other. The Company’s impairment tests for goodwill and intangible assets are based on the greater of value 

in use calculations that use a discounted cash flow model and estimated fair value less cost to sell. In assessing 

value in use, the estimated future cash flows are discounted to their present value using a pre-tax discount rate 

that reflects current market assessments of the time value of money and the risks specific to the asset or CGU, 

using an appropriate valuation model. These calculations are corroborated by calculation multiples or other 

available fair value indicators. The recoverable amount is most sensitive to the discount rate used for the 

discounted cash flow model as well as the expected future cash inflows and the growth rate used for 

extrapolation purposes. Using a five year (and related terminal value) discounted cash flow model, the Company 
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determines the recoverable amount by calculating the value in use. The model used average annual growth rates 

of 2%, terminal growth rates of 2% and post-tax discount rates between 6.2% and 8.6%. The Company has 

determined that the discount rates reasonably reflect the risks associated with the cash flow projections for the 

CGUs. The Company allocates the carrying value of goodwill and intangibles acquired from acquisitions to 

CGUs and uses estimates to test for any potential impairment. The Company’s impairment tests for goodwill 

and intangible assets are based on the greater of value in use calculations that use a discounted cash flow model 

over a five-year period and estimated fair value less cost to sell. An increase of 100 basis points in the pre-tax 

discount rate would not result in an impairment charge. 

 

Business combinations 

 

In a business combination, substantially all identifiable assets, liabilities and contingent liabilities acquired are 

recorded at the date of acquisition at their respective fair values. One of the most significant areas of judgement 

and estimation relates to the determination of the fair value of these assets and liabilities, including the fair value 

of contingent consideration, if applicable. If any intangible assets are identified, depending on the type of 

intangible asset and the complexity of determining its fair value, an independent external valuation expert may 

develop the fair value, using appropriate valuation techniques, which are generally based on a forecast of the 

total expected future net cash flows. These valuations are linked closely to the assumptions made by 

management regarding the future performance of the assets concerned and any changes in the discount rate 

applied. In certain circumstances where estimates have been made, the Company may obtain third-party 

valuations of certain assets, which could result in further refinement of the fair-value allocation of certain 

purchase prices and accounting adjustments. 

 

Allowances 

 

The cancellation allowance and allowance for expected credit losses is a significant judgement that is based on 

managements’ best estimates. These allowances are based on the analysis of historical trends, future 

expectations and include, where applicable, collection and cancellation activity. 

 

Share-Based Compensation 

 

In calculating the share-based compensation expense, key estimates such as the rate of forfeiture of options 

granted, probability of achieving performance conditions, the expected life of the option, the volatility of the 

Company’s stock price and the risk-free interest rate are used. 

 

Income tax expense 

 

In calculating income tax expense, the Company makes significant judgements in interpreting tax rules and 

regulations. Judgements are made to evaluate whether or not we can recover a deferred tax asset based on our 

assessment of existing tax laws, estimates of future profitability, and tax planning strategies. 
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Consolidation 

 

The Company’s consolidated annual financial statements for the year ended December 31, 2019 include the 

accounts of the Company and its subsidiaries.  All significant accounts and transactions between consolidated 

entities are eliminated.  Should there be a party with a minority interest in a property that the Company controls, 

that minority interest is reflected as “non-controlling interest” in the consolidated annual financial statements. 

 

Description of Non-IFRS Measures  

  

Management uses both IFRS and Non-IFRS Measures to monitor and assess the Company’s operating 

performance. Non-IFRS Measures exclude the impact of certain expenses and income that have been 

recognized under IFRS when analyzing operating performance. Management believes that the excluded items 

are not reflective of the Company’s underlying operating performance and make comparisons of underlying 

financial performance between periods difficult. As such, management believes that Non-IFRS measures may 

be useful to investors and other third parties because they allow for greater transparency with respect to key 

metrics used by the Company in its financial and operational decision making. From time to time, the Company 

may exclude additional items if it believes doing so would result in a more effective analysis of underlying 

operating performance. The exclusion of certain items does not imply that they are non-recurring. 

 

These Non-IFRS measures are intended to provide additional information and should not be considered in 

isolation nor as a substitute for measures of performance prepared in accordance with IFRS. In this MD&A, 

management uses the following measures, which are not recognized measures under IFRS, do not have a 

standardized meaning prescribed by IFRS and are unlikely to be comparable to similar measures presented by 

other organizations: 

 

• Adjusted Net Earnings - the Company uses Adjusted Net Earnings to assist in evaluating its operating 

performance. The Company believes that this Non-IFRS measure provides meaningful supplemental 

information to investors and other third parties regarding operating results because it excludes certain 

income or expense items which do not relate to operating activities of the Company’s underlying 

business and which may not be indicative of the Company’s future financial results. 

 

The adjustments may include, but are not limited to, the after-tax impact of acquisition and integration 

costs, share based compensation, amortization of intangibles and other gains or losses.  

 

Please see the “Overall Performance, Twelve and Three Months Ended December 31, 2019 - Adjusted 

Net Earnings” below for a reconciliation of the Company’s Net Earnings to Adjusted Net Earnings. 

 

• EBITDA - the Company defines EBITDA as earnings from operations before interest expense, taxes, 

depreciation and amortization (including amortization of tangibles and intangibles and amortization of 

cemetery property). The Company believes EBITDA to be an important measure that allows investors 

and other third parties to assess the operating performance of its ongoing business and to compare its 

results to the results of its competitors. 

 

The Company’s cemetery property inventory is acquired or constructed over many years, if not 

decades, in advance of its sale. The cash associated with this investing activity is a cash outflow in the 
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period in which the inventory is acquired or constructed. As sales occur, the Company draws down its 

inventory by making a non-cash charge to cost of goods sold.  

 

• Adjusted EBITDA - Adjusted EBITDA adjusts EBITDA for the non-recurring, one-time or non-cash 

income or expense items identified in the Adjusted Net Earnings defined above. The Company 

believes that the inclusion of Adjusted EBITDA also provides useful supplementary information to 

investors and other third parties and assists in evaluating the Company’s performance and trends.  

 

Please see the “Quarterly Information” below for a reconciliation of the Company’s earnings from 

operations to Adjusted EBITDA. 

 

• Adjusted Cash Flow - the Company evaluates, among other things, the sustainability of its dividend on 

a regular basis using an Adjusted Cash Flow metric. Adjusted Cash Flow is defined as the Company’s 

controlling interest in the following: earnings before income taxes, depreciation and amortization 

(including amortization of tangibles and intangibles and amortization of cemetery property), less cash 

income taxes payable, and adjusted for other non-cash income or expense items. 

 

Please see the “Discussion of Operating Results, Twelve and Three Months Ended December 31, 2019 

- Adjusted Cash Flow” below for a reconciliation of the Company’s earnings from operations to 

Adjusted Cash Flow. 

 

Overview 

 

PLC is an Ontario corporation listed on the Toronto Stock Exchange (the “TSX”) under the stock symbol of 

“PLC”.  PLC is the only Canadian publicly listed cemetery, funeral and cremation company. 

 

The Company is one of the largest providers of deathcare products and services in North America. The 

Company sells its products and services both at the time of need (at-need) and on a pre-arranged basis (pre-

need). PLC operates in five Canadian provinces and 15 U.S. states.  The Company and its subsidiaries operate 

114 cemeteries, 109 funeral homes (including 21 on-sites, where a funeral home is located on a cemetery) and 

39 crematoria businesses, each of which service different areas and provide a different combination of product 

and services. The primary products and services are: cemetery lots, crypts, niches, monuments, caskets, urns 

and other merchandise, funeral services and after life celebration services.   

 

The Company’s growth strategy includes organic initiatives and future acquisitions. Organic initiatives include 

the build-out of inventory at existing cemetery properties, remodeling of existing funeral homes, construction 

of new stand-alone funeral homes and construction of new on-site funeral homes referred to as combination 

properties. The deathcare industry continues to be a highly-fragmented market and the Company plans to 

continue its acquisition growth strategy where opportunities are attractive and can be integrated with our 

existing operations or provide an entry to new markets. 

 

In North America, we are all adjusting and adapting to daily changes as a result of the COVID-19 pandemic. 

Although the impact to PLC’s day-to-day business operations to-date has not been material, this could change 

quickly.  The outbreak of contagious illness such as this can impact our business operations in the short term 

including our staff and the families we serve, our pre-need funeral and cemetery sales performance, local 
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precautionary legislation may impact our at-need services by restricting the size and number of funeral services, 

and the economic impact of the pandemic may impact the income we receive from our trust funds. Although 

in most jurisdictions funeral homes and cemeteries are classified as essential services and we plan to remain 

open to serve our families at their time of need, the COVID 19 outbreak will be different in each city, state and 

province we operate in and we may need to temporarily reduce staffing or close certain of our facilities. The 

pandemic could lead to interruptions in our supply chain and temporary closures of our supplier facilities. 

 

Given the high level of uncertainty surrounding COVID-19 impacts, the Company is in the process of making 

many proactive changes and contingency plans relating to the current environment and will continue to work 

to address COVID-19 challenges as they evolve, so as to minimize the risk and impact to our employees, all 

families we serve and all stakeholders. Given the uncertain impacts of COVID-19, capital expenditure programs 

are on hold unless they are deemed necessary. Programs on hold include the recently announced construction 

of an on-site funeral visitation and reception centre at the Westminster Cemetery. We will evaluate our 

acquisition pipeline and we may defer certain of these opportunities as our immediate focus is on preserving 

financial flexibility. In the near term, we will focus on operating and integrating our existing business operations. 
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Selected Consolidated Financial Information 

 

The table below summarizes the operating results including Adjusted Net Earnings and Adjusted EBITDA for 

the years ended December 31, 2019, December 31, 2018 and December 31, 2017: 

 

For the Year Ended December 31, 2019 2018 2017

 Total revenue 244,259,132$       161,421,019$       87,289,797$        

 Earnings from operations 23,458,619$        19,873,142$        9,311,528$          

Net earnings, PLC shareholders 6,906,841$          6,722,456$          4,196,814$          

 Adjusted Net Earnings, PLC shareholders 22,359,678$        16,141,464$        8,597,161$          

 Adjusted EBITDA, PLC shareholders

 (see Quarterly Information) 53,254,746$        34,702,126$        16,630,310$        

Per share amounts attributable to PLC shareholders

 Net earnings - basic 0.246$                0.326$                0.315$                

 Net earnings - diluted 0.246$                0.325$                0.314$                

Adjusted Net Earnings - diluted 0.795$                0.781$                0.643$                

 Adjusted EBITDA - diluted

 (see Quarterly Information) 1.894$                1.680$                1.245$                

Weighted average shares outstanding - diluted 28,121,174 20,655,472 13,362,840

Dividends paid to shareholders 12,645,489$        9,361,258$          6,189,817$          

Cash 21,255,330$        14,149,092$        12,736,498$        

Total assets 1,374,520,857$    1,015,006,888$    459,081,252$       

Total non-current liabilities 823,960,676$       592,433,552$       264,884,249$       

Total debt 189,091,442$       96,049,017$        4,395,808$          

Adjusted Net Earnings and Adjusted EBITDA are non-IFRS measures. See "Description of Non-IFRS Measures".  

Revenue increased significantly over the period from 2017 through to 2019. The increase in 2019 is attributable 

to acquisitions which occurred in that year and a higher volume of cemetery operations in the U.S. Adjusted 

Net Earnings and Adjusted EBITDA also increased over this period.  

The Company’s consolidated assets have increased from $459,081,252 as at December 31, 2017 to 

$1,015,006,888 and $1,374,520,857 as at December 31, 2018 and 2019, respectively. As at December 31, 2019 

the Company had long-term debt of $182,577,712. Approximately $173.7 million of this debt relates to the 

revolving credit facility, and the remaining balance is for notes payables to former cemetery property owners, 

vendor take-back financing, non-compete agreements and vehicle and equipment loans. The Company also 

had unrestricted cash totalling $21,255,330. 

The weighted average shares outstanding over this period increased largely because of equity financings 

completed in each year. The most recent equity financing closed in April 2019 resulting in an additional 

5,605,100 common shares being issued, bringing the total number of issued and outstanding common shares 
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to 29,354,844 as at December 31, 2019. The fully diluted weighted average shares outstanding increased to 

28,121,174 for fiscal 2019 and 29,776,547 for the three month period ending December 31, 2019.   

In 2019 the Company invested approximately $193.83 million (including $12.9 million of acquisition and 

integration costs) on strategic acquisitions, compared to $275.6 million (including $10.4 acquisition and 

integration costs) described in more detail in the notes to the financial statements and later in this report. 

 

Overall Performance 

During 2019 and 2018 the Company completed several acquisitions in Canada and in the United States, the 

more significant of these being the acquisition of Journey Group Texas One, LLC and Journey Group Texas 

Two, LLC (“Journey Group”) in November 2019, Horan & McConaty Funeral Services, Inc. (“Horan”) in 

July 2019, The Baue Funeral Home Co. (“Baue”) in June 2019 and Cress Funeral Service, Inc. (“Cress”) in 

April 2019, the acquisition of Citadel Management LLC (“Citadel”) in November 2018, the acquisition of 

Signature Funeral and Cemetery Investments, LLC (“Signature”) in May 2018, and the acquisition of CMS 

Mid-Atlantic Inc. (“CMS”) in March 2018. Over the period from January 1, 2017 to December 31, 2019 the 

Company significantly increased its operational footprint and expanded and diversified its geographic footprint 

to include the states of Colorado, Illinois, Kansas, Kentucky, Mississippi, Missouri, New Jersey, New Mexico, 

New York, North Carolina, South Carolina, Texas, Wisconsin and the province of British Columbia. The 

Company also added to the existing operations in Ontario, Manitoba and Saskatchewan. 

 

In addition to the cemetery and funeral operations acquired over this period, the Company also added 

experienced management teams and established a head office for its U.S. operations in Houston, Texas. PLC’s 

management team in Houston has begun to integrate the acquired businesses by establishing regional business 

units to share resources more effectively, achieve best in practice sales strategies across the business units, 

modernize information systems, centralize human resource, risk management, legal, finance, procurement and 

other support functions in order to realize cost savings and other synergies going forward.   

 

The Company has invested in growing the U.S. based head office in Houston since making the Signature 

acquisition in 2018.  This investment in people and corporate infrastructure will allow the Company to support 

the business as it moves towards its previously disclosed aspirational growth target of $100 million in proforma 

Adjusted EBITDA by the end of 2022. While this investment has resulted in a short term drag on earnings, 

Adjusted EBITDA and Adjusted EBITDA margins, management remains confident that these investments 

will assist in bringing efficiencies from reduced costs at the divisional level in 2020 and beyond, and makes the 

business more scalable. 

   

As a result of the above noted acquisitions, the Company achieved improvement in its operating results for the 

twelve and three month periods ended December 31, 2019 compared to 2018. Revenue increased year over 

year by 51.3% to $244,259,132 from $161,421,019 in 2018 and revenue for the quarter ended December 31, 

2019 increased by 36.2% to $68,956,490 compared to $50,625,376. After adjusting for the impact of foreign 

exchange, revenue growth from comparable business units year over year was 2.9% and growth for the quarter 

was 1.3%.  

  

Net earnings attributable to PLC shareholders for the year ended December 31, 2019 were $6,906,841 

compared to $6,722,456 for the same period in 2018. For the three-month period ended December 31, 2019 

net earnings attributable to PLC shareholders were $543,706 compared to $2,212,557 for the same period in 
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2018. On a fully diluted per share basis, the net earnings attributable to PLC shareholders were $0.246 and 

$0.018 for the twelve and three-month period ended December 31, 2019, respectively, compared to $0.325 and 

$0.095 for the same periods in 2018.  

 

Adjusted Net Earnings and Adjusted EBITDA 

 

The 2019 and the 2018 net earnings as stated have been significantly impacted by certain one-time, non-

recurring or non-cash revenue and expense items that management believes should be highlighted to better 

explain the Company’s operating performance for the periods under review on an adjusted basis. The table 

below summarizes the calculation of Adjusted Net Earnings and Adjusted EBITDA for the three and twelve 

month periods ended December 31, 2019 and 2018: 

Three Months Ended December 31, Twelve Months Ended December 31,

2019 2018 2019 2018

Net earnings, PLC shareholders 543,706$         2,212,557$      6,906,841$      6,722,456$      

Adjusted for the impact of:

Acquisition and integration costs 3,314,960        2,588,144        12,964,150      10,384,125      

Share based compensation 934,197           589,679           3,611,488        1,185,661        

Amortization of intangible assets 880,132           119,880           2,811,894        311,074           

Other (income) expenses 351,362           26,963             420,266           203,554           

Tax effect on the above items (1,247,517)      (531,347)         (4,354,961)      (2,665,406)      

 Adjusted Net Earnings, PLC shareholders 4,776,840$      5,005,876$      22,359,678$    16,141,464$    

 Adjusted EBITDA, PLC shareholders

 (see Quarterly Information) 13,397,500$    11,280,499$    53,254,746$    34,702,126$    

Per share amounts attributable to

PLC shareholders

Adjusted Net Earnings - diluted 0.160$             0.214$             0.795$             0.781$             

 Adjusted EBITDA - diluted

 (see Quarterly Information) 0.450$             0.482$             1.894$             1.680$             

Weighted average shares outstanding - diluted 29,776,547 23,399,076 28,121,174 20,655,472

Adjusted Net Earnings and Adjusted EBITDA are non-IFRS measures. See "Description of Non-IFRS Measures"

 

A description of the items included in the above table follows: 

• Acquisition and integration costs - the Company has stated that part of its growth plan includes growth 

through acquisitions. In order to implement this growth initiative, the Company will incur ongoing 

expenses for acquisition and integration costs. IFRS requires that such costs be expensed in the period 

incurred rather than capitalized to the cost of the acquisition. Accordingly, net earnings will be 

negatively impacted for expenses incurred in connection with these growth initiatives as management 

executes on its growth strategy. Commensurate with the size and number of transactions in the last 
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two years, the acquisition and integration expenses incurred by the Company have increased over the 

period from January 1, 2018 to December 31, 2019.   

During the year ended December 31, 2019 and 2018, the Company incurred acquisition and integration 

related expenses of $12,964,150 and $10,384,125 respectively. During the three month period ended 

December 31, 2019 and 2018, the Company incurred acquisition and integration related expenses of 

$3,314,960 and $2,588,144, respectively, which relate to recent acquisitions and other acquisition and 

integration activity. As previously discussed, the Company invested approximately $193.83 million 

(including $12.9 million of acquisition and integration costs) on strategic acquisitions, compared to 

$275.6 million (including $10.4 acquisition and integration costs), to acquire new business.   

 

• Share based compensation - on May 31, 2019, the shareholders of the Company approved an amended 

and restated omnibus equity incentive plan (the “EIP”), consisting of Deferred Share Units (“DSUs”), 

Restricted Share Units (“RSUs”), Performance Share Units (“PSUs”), and Options to acquire 

common shares (“Options”). The number of common shares that may be issued by the Company 

upon the settlement of awards granted under the EIP shall not exceed 2,000,000. The Company has 

issued 1,378,000 Options to senior management that vest only upon the Company achieving certain 

performance metrics (the “Performance Options”).  The Performance Options are governed by the 

terms of the EIP, except as modified by the terms of the individual award agreements, as described in 

further detail in the management information circular of the Company dated April 23, 2019. The 

Company recognized $3,611,488 in non-cash share-based compensation expense during the year ended 

December 31, 2019 compared to $1,185,661 in 2018, and $934,197 during the three month period 

ended December 31, 2019 compared to $589,679 for the same period in 2018. Share based incentive 

compensation expense will vary based on vesting conditions and the timing of when awards are issued. 

Since the unit obligations are expected to be settled in common shares at some date in the future, the 

share-based compensation expenses are not deductible for tax purposes. 

 

• Amortization of intangible assets – represents the amount of amortization of intangible assets acquired 

as a result of business combinations. The Company recognized $2,811,894 in amortization expense of 

intangible assets during the year ended December 31, 2019 compared to $311,074 for the same period 

in 2018, and $880,132 during the three-month period ended December 31, 2019 compared to $119,880 

for the same period in 2018. The increase in intangible assets relates primarily to non-compete 

agreements on recent transactions. The non-compete agreements protect the Company against 

competition from former owners however the amortization is a short term drag on earnings. 

 

• Other (income) expense – comprised of additional board and professional fees of approximately 

$716,000, a gain on the contract settlement related to PLC Saber Ltd. of approximately $180,000 and 

a net gain on the sale of properties of approximately $116,000 for the year ended December 31, 2019. 

 

• Income tax – represents an adjustment for the tax impact of the above noted adjustments where such 

items are taxable in nature. 

 

After reflecting the impact of the above items, Adjusted Net Earnings attributable to PLC shareholders for the 

year ended December 31, 2019 was $22,359,678 or $0.795 per share compared to $16,141,464 or $0.781 per 

share for the same period in 2018 and for the three month period ended December 31, 2019 were $4,776,840 
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or $0.160 per share compared to $5,005,876 or $0.214 per share for the same period in 2018. This represents 

an increase of 38.5% in the Adjusted Net Earnings and 1.8% in the Adjusted Net Earnings per share year over 

year and a decrease of 4.6% in the Adjusted Net Earnings and a decrease of 25.2% in the Adjusted Net Earnings 

per share for the quarter. 

 

Adjusted EBITDA attributable to PLC shareholders for the year ended December 31, 2019 was $53,254,746 

or $1.894 per share compared to $34,702,126 or $1.680 per share in 2018 and for the three month period ended 

December 31, 2019 was $13,397,500 or $0.450 per share compared to $11,280,499 or $0.482 per share for the 

same period in 2018. This represents an increase of 53.5% in the Adjusted EBITDA and 12.7% in the Adjusted 

EBITDA per share year over year and an increase of 18.8% in the Adjusted EBITDA and a decrease of 6.6% 

in the Adjusted EBITDA per share for the quarter.  

 

The businesses acquired prior to January 1, 2019 performed well in 2019, making a significant contribution to 

the growth in revenue and Adjusted EBITDA in the current year. The strongest performance came from the 

cemetery operations in New Jersey, Kentucky and Michigan as a result of strong organic revenue growth.   

 

While revenues from businesses acquired in 2019, were in-line with internal expectations the businesses were 

slow to normalize operating expenses as quickly as anticipated. As the Company moves forward, the 

management expects that as these businesses are integrated, their results will improve and be in line with 

management’s expectations. This together with the increased expenses relating to the establishment of our 

corporate infrastructure in the U.S. to support our growth initiatives, has resulted in a drag on our current 

operating results. 

 

In November 2019, the Company acquired Journey Group assets and in early 2020 acquired two additional 

businesses in the state of Tennessee (described in more detail below). Combined, the Company expects that 

these acquisitions will add an additional $11 million in Adjusted EBITDA going forward once fully integrated 

within the Company’s portfolio. The investment that has been made in corporate overhead and infrastructure 

is expected to allow PLC to absorb these new businesses in the consolidated group without any further material 

expenses increase to support the businesses and will allow management to integrate the businesses in order to 

obtain operational improvements and synergies in future periods.   

 

Other events during the recent quarter include the following:  

 

• On November 18, 2019, the Company completed the acquisition of all the assets of two U.S. 

businesses, Journey Group, for an aggregate total purchase price of approximately $12.5 million 

(US$9.5 million) in cash, subject to customary working capital adjustments. Journey Group operates 

three cemeteries, three funeral homes and two combination funeral home and cemetery properties in 

Texas. Journey Group’s acquisition increases PLC’s U.S. footprint and presence in Texas. The 

acquisition of Journey Group was funded with the Company’s credit facility.  

 

• On November 22, 2019, the Company amended its existing syndicated bank financing arrangement to 

increase its borrowing capacity to $300 million ($250 million committed credit facility and additional 

$50 million accordion facility). The financing arrangement has a term of five years.  
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• On December 20, 2019, in connection with the acquisition of WG-TN, LLC (“WG-TN”) and Harpeth 

Hills Memory Gardens Inc. (“HHMG”), the Company made an investment of a $26.5 million 

(US$20.4 million) secured by a promissory note to WG-TN and HHMG which is measured at fair 

value. The promissory note had a maturity date of March 31, 2020 and bore interest at 10%. The note 

along with its associated interest are exchangeable as consideration for 100% of the Equity Interest in 

WG-TN and HHMG by the borrower.  

 

Subsequent to December 31, 2019, the Company also announced the following events: 

 

• The aforementioned promissory note was converted to equity interest in WG-TN and HHMG. 

• On January 31, 2020 the Company has completed the previously announced acquisition of all the 

outstanding stock and membership interests of Family Legacy, LLC (“Family Legacy”) for a purchase 

price of approximately $40.8 million (US$30.8 million), a business with 12 locations operating in 

Nashville, Tennessee, as well as all of the outstanding membership interests in WG-TN and HHMG, 

a large combination business located in Nashville, Tennessee. The above acquisition expands PLC’s 

U.S. operations into the high-growth middle Tennessee metropolitan market by adding four 

combination funeral home and cemetery properties, seven stand-alone funeral homes and two stand-

alone cemeteries. The above acquisitions are in line with PLC’s communicated growth strategy. The 

transactions were funded with proceeds from PLC’s existing credit facility. The initial accounting for 

these business acquisitions was not complete at the time these consolidated financial statements were 

approved by the board of directors (the “Board”). As such, certain disclosures required under IFRS 3 

in respect of the above acquisitions cannot yet be made. 

• On February 18, 2020 the Company announced that Andrew Clark will be stepping down as Chairman 

and CEO of the Company.  On March 30, 2020, the Company announced that Andrew Clark will 

resign as CEO on March 31, 2020, and that the Board of Directors has appointed J. Bradley Green to 

serve in the role of Interim Chief Executive Officer.  Mr. Green has served as the President of PLC 

since May of 2018 nad previously served as the CEO of the Signature Group prior to the Company’s 

acquisition of the business.   

• On March 2, 2020 the Company announced that construction of an on-site funeral visitation and 

reception centre at the Westminster Cemetery in Toronto, Ontario is now underway. The 32,100 

square-foot facility will be the Company’s first on-site funeral visitation and reception centre in Canada. 

Construction is expected to be completed by the end of 2021. This project is an important plank of 

the Company’s growth strategy, which includes margin expansion, acquisitions and the enhancement 

of its existing cemetery properties. Given the uncertain impacts of COVID-19, this program is on hold. 

• On March 5, 2020 the Company announced an update on the continuing development of the 78-acre 

Eternal Sunset Memorial Park and Cemetery in Lafayette, New Jersey. Since November 2018, the 

Company has developed and opened approximately 12,000 new lots of inventory, having sold lots to 

multiple associations and hundreds of families. The Company has begun development of 6,000 lots, 

with an anticipated completion date of December 31, 2020.  
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Consolidated Statement of Financial Position 

 

Current Assets & Liabilities 

 

Current assets were $83,519,404 at December 31, 2019 compared to $62,920,267 at December 31, 2018. The 

increase was primarily due to recent acquisitions and increase in cash. 

 

Current liabilities were $36,035,346 at December 31, 2019 compared to $22,100,126 at December 31, 2018. 

The increase was primarily due to recent acquisitions. 

 

Net working capital at December 31, 2019 was $47,484,058 compared to $40,820,141 at December 31, 2018.  

 

Care and Maintenance Trust Funds 

 

The Company contributes a portion of all lot, crypt and niche sales to the Care and Maintenance Trust Funds 

in accordance with the regulatory requirements. During the year ended December 31, 2019, the Company 

contributed $7,909,089 to the trust funds compared to $7,137,408 during the same period in 2018. The Care 

and Maintenance Trust Fund assets are included in the Consolidated Statement of Financial Position at market 

value. As of December 31, 2019, the balance of the trust funds was $224,494,986 compared to $195,927,256 as 

at December 31, 2018. The increase is primarily a result of an appreciation in fair value of capital markets since 

December 31, 2018, contributions to the trust funds and recent acquisitions. The Care and Maintenance Trust 

Fund assets are offset by a corresponding liability for Care and Maintenance Trusts’ Corpus.  

 

Pre-Need Merchandise and Service Trust Funds 

 

The Company maintains Pre-Need Merchandise and Service Trust Funds for the deposit of cash received for 

the purchase of pre-need merchandise and services to be delivered at some future date. When the merchandise 

is delivered and the services are performed, the Company receives the current market value for the service from 

the Pre-Need Merchandise and Service Trust Funds. The Pre-Need Merchandise and Service Trust Fund assets 

are included in the Consolidated Statement of Financial Position at market value. The assets within the trust 

funds had a market value at December 31, 2019 of $257,150,385 compared to $157,597,312 as at December 

31, 2018. The increase is primarily a result of an appreciation in fair value of capital markets since December 

31, 2018 and recent acquisitions. The Pre-Need Merchandise and Service Trust Funds are offset by a 

corresponding liability for Deferred Pre-Need Receipts held in trust.  

 

Prearranged Funeral Insurance Contracts 

 

In addition to trust funded prearranged funeral services contracts, the Company also has prearranged funeral 

services contracts which are funded by insurance. At December 31, 2019, and December 31, 2018, the current 

face amounts of pre-funded policies were approximately $288 million and $176 million, respectively. The 

increase in prearranged funeral insurance contracts is primarily due to recent acquisitions. Families who have 

prearranged with the Company will receive a refund to the extent that the face amount of the policy exceeds 

the current retail value of the merchandise and services to be provided. The insurance funded contracts are not 

included in the consolidated financial statements as the Company is not the beneficiary of the policy. Amounts 

funded through insurance are available to the Company when the funeral services are performed.  
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Finance Assurances 

 

The Company has entered into arrangements with certain surety companies whereby such companies agree to 

issue surety bonds on the Company’s behalf as financial assurance. When selling pre-need contracts, the 

Company may purchase surety bonds where allowed by state law. The surety bonds are used to support the 

Company’s pre-need cemetery merchandise sales activities, in lieu of trusting certain amounts of funds received 

from the customer. The amount of the bond posted is generally determined by the total amount of pre-need 

contract that would otherwise be required to be trusted, in accordance with state law. The obligations underlying 

these surety bonds are recorded as deferred revenue. At December 31, 2019, the Company had surety bonds 

in place having an aggregate face value of approximately $40.3 million.   

 

Liquidity and Capital Resources 

 

The Company’s principal sources of liquidity are cash provided from operations and from the issuance of debt 

and equity instruments. As previously mentioned, the Company had a net working capital of $47,484,058 as at 

December 31, 2019.   

 

On November 22, 2019, the Company amended its existing syndicated bank financing arrangement to increase 

its borrowing capacity to $300 million ($250 million committed credit facility and additional $50 million 

accordion facility). The credit facility has a term of five years. The additional credit provides the Company with 

further flexibility as it continues to pursue its growth strategy. At December 31, 2019, the Company had $173.7 

million outstanding on the credit facility and had $21.3 million in cash on hand. 

 

In addition, as at December 31, 2019, the Company had other debt of $10.7 million comprised of vehicle loans, 

mortgages on certain funeral homes and notes payable to former business owners supporting non-compete 

and warranty agreements. Further, the Company had $6.5 million in lease liabilities relating to the adoption of 

IFRS 16 (as discussed in more detail under “New Accounting Policies Adopted in 2019”, in this MD&A) and 

new leases entered into in the current period. 

 

The Company has five construction commitments totalling $22.8 million for the construction of a funeral 

visitation and reception centre, care centre, funeral home, mausoleum and cemetery development.  

 

On April 23, 2019, the Company completed a bought deal financing, issuing 5,605,100 common shares at a 

price of $25.65 per common share for total gross proceeds of $143,770,815, including the exercise in full of the 

over-allotment option. The net proceeds from the April 2019 equity offering were used to repay approximately 

$40 million of outstanding indebtedness under the Company’s credit facility and to pay for the acquisition of 

Ziegenhein Funeral Home and Baue. The acquisition of Horan in July 2019 was funded with the remaining 

cash proceeds from the April 2019 equity offering and the Company’s credit facility.  

 

From December 2013 to December 2019, the Company raised approximately $505 million from the issuance 

of common shares to fund various growth initiatives. The Company may use additional share offerings as a 

way to fund future growth initiatives if, and when, such opportunities arise. 
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Discussion of Operating Results, Twelve Months Ended December 31, 2019 

 

Total revenue for the year ended December 31, 2019 was $244,259,132 compared to $161,421,019 in the same 

period in 2018. This represents an increase of $82,838,113 or 51.3%, over the same period in 2018.  

 

Revenue was derived from the following sources: 

December 31, December 31,

2019 2018

        

Sales 223,155,812$    148,143,419$     

Income from care and maintenance funds 10,827,579       8,769,883         

Interest and other income 10,275,741       4,507,717         

$244,259,132 161,421,019$     

 
After adjusting for the impact of foreign exchange, revenue growth from comparable business units’ year over 

year was 2.9%. For acquired companies, comparable growth is calculated as the difference between actual 

revenue achieved by each company in the financial period following acquisition compared to the revenue 

achieved in the corresponding financial period preceding the date of acquisition by PLC. Without adjusting for 

the impact of foreign exchange, revenue growth from comparable business units was 4.3%. 

 

The revenue increase from comparable business operations was primarily related to cemetery operations in the 

U.S. The increase in comparable revenue from cemetery operations year over year is primarily due to an increase 

in recognized revenue from the completion of previously sold mausoleum buildings, increased pre-need sales 

production, expansion of cemetery inventory and opening of new cemetery property, and higher revenue from 

the pre-need and care and maintenance trust funds. 

 

Gross profit margin was 80.8% for the year ended December 31, 2019 compared to 79.3% for the same period 

in 2018. The increase in gross profit margin is due to a combination of higher interest and other income, gross 

profit margin improvement from comparable business units due to increased selling prices in certain locations 

and the acquisition of higher margin businesses in 2019.  

 

Operating expenses for the year ended December 31, 2019 were $173,987,322 compared to $108,121,831 in 

the same period in 2018. This represents an increase of $65,865,491 over the same period in 2018, as indicated 

below: 
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December 31, December 31,

2019 2018

General and administrative, including depreciation $101,588,439 $54,839,489

Amortization of intangibles 2,811,894 311,074

Maintenance 31,583,242 26,023,728

Advertising and selling 28,723,849 23,364,745    

Interest             5,668,410 2,397,134

Share based compensation expense 3,611,488 1,185,661  

$173,987,322 $108,121,831

 
The overall increase in operating expenses year over year was due primarily to the inclusion of newly acquired 

businesses, higher general and administrative expenses for corporate infrastructure, additional amortization 

expense for intangible assets relating to recent acquisitions, increased interest expense associated with higher 

loan balances on the credit facility and additional share based compensation expense as a result of more awards 

being issued.  

 

In aggregate, after adjusting for the impact of foreign exchange, the Company’s general and administrative, 

advertising and selling, and maintenance expenses for comparable business units for the year ended December 

31, 2019 increased by approximately $5.7 million compared to the same period in 2018.  

 

General and administrative expenses for comparable business units increased by approximately $6.7 million as 

additional expenses were incurred to support the Company’s current and long-term growth initiatives including 

increased personnel, listing fees and regulatory expenses, investor relations activities, legal and audit fees, and 

trust fund management fees. This increase was offset by a decrease of approximately $1.1 million in advertising 

and selling expenses from comparable operations. Maintenance expenses decreased by approximately $130,000 

and were largely in line with management’s expectations and consistent with the prior year, although certain of 

these expenses can be seasonal in nature and may be different period over period. 

 

Amortization of intangible assets increased by $2,500,820 for the year ended December 31, 2019 compared to 

the same period in 2018. The increase in intangible assets relates primarily to non-compete agreements on 

recent transactions. 

 

Interest expense increased by $3,271,276 for the year ended December 31, 2019 compared to the same period 

in 2018, primarily as the Company has utilized its credit facility to fund its recent acquisitions. Amortization of 

deferred finance costs associated with establishing the facility and standby fees were also higher.   

 

The Company’s EIP was established in the second quarter of 2016, as a means of compensating directors and 

designated employees of the Company and its subsidiaries, and of promoting share ownership and alignment 

with shareholders’ interests. The EIP provides for the grant of DSUs, RSUs, PSUs and Options. The plan was 

amended in May of 2019. Compensation expense associated with these units for the year ended December 31, 

2019 was $3,611,488 compared to $1,185,661 for the same period in 2018.  

 

As a result of the above, earnings from operations for the year ended December 31, 2019 totaled $23,458,619 

compared to $19,873,142 in 2018. This represents an increase of $3,585,477 or 18.0% year over year.  
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Other income and expense items which are non-operating in nature for the period, and previously discussed, 

include acquisition and integration costs. During the years ended December 31, 2019 and 2018, the Company 

incurred expenses of $12,964,150 and $10,384,125, respectively, which relate to recent acquisitions and other 

acquisition and integration activity. Acquisition expenses will vary from period to period depending on the size 

and level of acquisition activity.  

 

Income tax expense for the year ended December 31, 2019 was $2,788,092 compared to $2,165,882 for the 

same period in 2018. The increase is primarily the result of an increase in taxable income for the year ended 

December 31, 2019 compared to the same period in 2018. The effective tax rate in 2019 was 27.7% which is 

higher than the Company’s statutory tax rates as a result of certain permanent differences in operating expenses 

that are not deductible expenses for tax purposes as well as non-taxable dividend income compared to 23.3% 

for the same period in 2018. 

 

As a result of the above, the Company’s after-tax earnings from operations for the year ended December 31, 

2019 totaled $7,286,111 compared to $7,119,581 for the same period in 2018. 

 

Earnings Per Share 

 

The weighted average diluted number of common shares outstanding for the year ended December 31, 2019 

increased to 28,121,174 compared to 20,655,472 for the same period in 2018, an increase of 7,465,702 or 36.1%. 

The increase in outstanding shares relates primarily to the April 2019 and May 2018 equity offering.  

 

Fully diluted earnings per common share attributable to PLC shareholders for the year ended December 31, 

2019 were $0.246 compared to $0.325 for the same period in 2018.  

 

Adjusted Net Earnings Per Share 

 

The 2019 and 2018 net earnings, as stated, have been significantly impacted by certain one-time, non-recurring 

or non-cash revenue and expense items that management believes should be highlighted to better reflect the 

Company’s operating performance for the period under review. The table below summarizes the impact of 

these items for the year ended December 31, 2019 compared to 2018: 
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Twelve Months Ended December 31,

2019 2018

Net earnings, PLC shareholders 6,906,841$      6,722,456$      

Adjusted for the impact of:

Acquisition and integration costs 12,964,150      10,384,125      

Share based compensation 3,611,488       1,185,661       

Amortization of intangible assets 2,811,894       311,074          

Other (income) or expenses 420,266          203,554          

Tax effect on the above items (4,354,961)      (2,665,406)      

 Adjusted Net Earnings, PLC shareholders 22,359,678$    16,141,464$    

 Adjusted EBITDA, PLC shareholders

 (see Quarterly Information) 53,254,746$    34,702,126$    

 Per share amounts attributable to 

PLC shareholders

Adjusted Net Earnings - diluted 0.795$           0.781$           

 Adjusted EBITDA - diluted

(see Quarterly Information) 1.894$           1.680$           

Weighted average shares outstanding - diluted 28,121,174 20,655,472

Adjusted Net Earnings and Adjusted EBITDA are non-IFRS measures. See "Description of

Non-IFRS Measures".

 
As indicated in the chart above, Adjusted Net Earnings to PLC shareholders for the year ended December 31, 

2019 increased to $22,359,678 from $16,141,464 in 2018 during the same period. This represents an increase 

of 38.5% year over year. The fully diluted Adjusted Net Earnings per share for the year ended December 31, 

2019 was $0.795 compared to $0.781 for the same period in 2018, a year over year increase of $0.014 or 1.8%.  

 

Adjusted EBITDA Per Share   

 

Adjusted EBITDA attributable to PLC shareholders for the year ended December 31, 2019 was $53,254,746 

compared to $34,702,126, an increase of $18,552,620 or 53.5% over 2018. The fully diluted Adjusted EBITDA 

per share for the year ended December 31, 2019 was $1.894 compared to $1.680 for the same period in 2018, 

a year over year increase of $0.214 or 12.7%. 

 

Adjusted Cash Flow  

 

The Company uses Adjusted Cash Flow as a measure of, among other things, the sustainability of its dividend.  

The table below summarizes the calculation of Adjusted Cash Flow from its operations for the year ended 

December 31, 2019 and 2018 compared to its dividend payout: 
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Twelve Months Ended December 31,

2019 2018

Earnings before income taxes 10,074,203$     9,285,463$     

Adjusted for:

Amortization of cemetery property 7,647,209 6,226,705

Depreciation and amortization 13,459,547 5,673,857

Cash income taxes payable (1,400,000)       (780,000)        

Share based compensation 3,231,167 1,163,743      

Change in fair value of contingent earn-out payments -                 110,710         

Adjusted cash flow from operations 33,012,126 21,680,478

Less non controlling interest amounts:

  Net earnings 379,270 397,125

  Depreciation and amortization 217,244 125,582

Adjusted cash flow, equity holders of PLC $32,415,612 $21,157,772

Adjusted cash flow per common share-diluted $1.153 $1.024

Dividends per common share $0.456 $0.456

Payout ratio 40% 45%

Adjusted Cash Flow is a non-IFRS measure. See "Description of Non-IFRS Measures".

 
As calculated above, the Company’s Adjusted Cash Flow from operations was $32,415,612 for the year ended 

December 31, 2019 compared to $21,157,772 for the same period in 2018. This represents Adjusted Cash Flow 

per fully diluted common share of $1.153 and $1.024 for the year ended December 31, 2019 and 2018, 

respectively.  

 

The Company paid dividends of $0.456 per common share for the years ended December 31, 2019 and 2018. 

The dividends paid represent 40% and 45% of the Adjusted Cash Flow per common share for the years ended 

December 31, 2019 and 2018, respectively. 

 

Discussion of Operating Results, Three Months Ended December 31, 2019 

 

Total revenue for the three month period ended December 31, 2019 was $68,956,490 compared to $50,625,376 

in the same three month period in 2018. This represents an increase of $18,331,114 or 36.2%, over the same 

period in 2018.  

 

Revenue was derived from the following sources: 

December 31 December 31

2019 2018

        

Sales 60,442,794$   46,627,346$   

Income from care and maintenance funds 2,859,158       2,611,091       

Interest and other income 5,654,538       1,386,939       

$68,956,490 50,625,376$   
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After adjusting for the impact of foreign exchange, revenue growth from comparable business units’ quarter 

over quarter was 1.3%. For acquired companies, comparable growth is calculated as the difference between 

actual revenue achieved by each company in the financial period following acquisition compared to the revenue 

achieved in the corresponding financial period preceding the date of acquisition by PLC. Without adjusting for 

the impact of foreign exchange, revenue growth from comparable business units’ quarter over quarter was 

2.3%.  The organic growth achieved in the fourth quarter of 2018 was 10.8% 

 

The revenue increase from comparable business operations was primarily related to cemetery operations in the 

U.S. The increase in comparable revenue from cemetery operations quarter over quarter is largely due to an 

increase in recognized revenue from the completed construction of previously sold mausoleum buildings, 

increased pre-need sales production, expansion of cemetery inventory and marginally higher revenue from the 

pre-need and care and maintenance trust funds.  

 

Gross profit margin was 80.3% for the three month period ended December 31, 2019 compared to 79.2% for 

the same period in 2018. The increase in gross profit margin is due to a combination of higher interest and 

other income, gross profit margin improvement from comparable business units due to increased selling prices 

in certain locations and the acquisition of higher margin businesses in 2019.  

 

Operating expenses for the three month period ended December 31, 2019 were $50,733,733 compared to 

$33,602,207 in the same three month period in 2018. This represents an increase of $17,131,526 over the same 

period in 2018, as indicated below: 

 

December 31, December 31,

2019 2018

General and administrative $31,678,307 $18,131,228

Amortization of intangibles 880,132 119,880

Maintenance 8,226,671 6,900,556

Advertising and selling 7,460,694 6,891,221    

Interest             1,553,732 969,643

Share based compensation expense 934,197 589,679  

$50,733,733 $33,602,207

 
The overall increase in operating expenses year over year was due primarily to the inclusion of acquired 

businesses, additional amortization expense for intangible assets relating to recent acquisitions, increased 

interest expense associated with higher loan balances on the credit facility and additional share-based 

compensation expense as a result of more awards being issued.  

 

In aggregate, after adjusting for the impact of foreign exchange, the Company’s general and administrative, 

advertising and selling, and maintenance expenses for the comparable business units for the quarter ended 

December 31, 2019 increased by approximately $2.7 million compared to the same period in 2018.  

 

General and administrative expenses increased by approximately $3.2 million for comparable business units. 

As mentioned previously, the year over year increase related to growing the Company’s infrastructure at its 

head offices to support the Company’s current and long-term growth initiatives including increased personnel, 
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office space, listing fees and regulatory expenses, investor relations activities, legal and audit fees, trust fund 

management, etc. This increase was offset by a decrease of approximately $720,000 in advertising and selling 

expenses from comparable operations. Maintenance expenses increased by approximately $180,000 and were 

largely in line with management’s expectations and consistent with the prior year, although certain of these 

expenses can be seasonal in nature and may be different period over period. 

 

Amortization of intangible assets increased by $760,252 in the fourth quarter of 2019. The increase in intangible 

assets relate primarily to non-compete agreements on recent transactions that protect and benefit the Company 

going forward but are amortized over a relatively short period and are a drag on current earnings in the short 

term. 

 

Interest expense increased by $584,089 in the fourth quarter of 2019, primarily as the Company has utilized its 

credit facility to fund its recent acquisitions. Amortization of deferred finance costs associated with establishing 

the facility and standby fees were also higher.   

 

As previously stated, the EIP provides for the grant of DSUs, RSUs, PSUs and Options. Compensation expense 

associated with these units for the three month period ended December 31, 2019 was $934,197 compared to 

$589,679 for the same period in 2018. The increase this quarter is largely related to the issuance of Performance 

Options earlier this year.  

 

As a result of the above, earnings from operations for the three month period ended December 31, 2019 totaled 

$4,607,987 compared to $6,489,911 in 2018.  

 

Other income and expense items which are non-operating in nature for the period, and previously discussed, 

include acquisition and integration costs. During the three month periods ended December 31, 2019 and 2018, 

the Company incurred expenses of $3,314,960 and $2,588,144, respectively, which relate to recent acquisitions 

and other acquisition and integration activity. Acquisition expenses will vary from period to period depending 

on the size and level of acquisition activity.  

 

Income tax expense for the three month period ended December 31, 2019 was $272,943 compared to 

$1,536,439 for the same period in 2018. The effective tax rate in 2019 was 29.0% which is higher than the 

Company’s statutory tax rates as a result of certain operating expenses such as share based compensation that 

are not deductible expenses for tax purposes and qualifying dividend income that is not taxable, compared to 

39.7% for the same period in 2018. 

 

As a result of the above, the Company’s after-tax earnings from operations for the three-month period ended 

December 31, 2019 totaled $668,722 compared to $2,338,365 for the same period in 2018. 

 

 

Earnings Per Share 

 

The weighted average diluted number of common shares outstanding for the three month period ended 

December 31, 2019 increased to 29,776,547 compared to 23,399,076 for the same period in 2018, an increase 

of 6,377,471 or 27.3%. The increase in outstanding shares relates primarily to the April 2019 and May 2018 

equity offerings.  
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Fully diluted earnings per common share attributable to PLC shareholders for the three month period ended 

December 31, 2019 was $0.018 compared to $0.095 for the same period in 2018.  

 

Adjusted Net Earnings Per Share 

 

The 2019 and 2018 net earnings, as stated, have been significantly impacted by certain one-time, non-recurring 

or non-cash revenue and expense items that management believes should be highlighted to better reflect the 

Company’s operating performance for the period under review. The table below summarizes the impact of 

these items for the three month period ended December 31, 2019 compared to 2018: 

Three Months Ended December 31,

2019 2018

Net earnings, PLC shareholders 543,706$        2,212,557$      

Adjusted for the impact of:

Acquisition and integration costs 3,314,960       2,588,144       

Share based compensation 934,197          589,679          

Amortization of intangible assets 880,132          119,880          

Other income (expenses) 351,362          26,963           

Tax effect on the above items (1,247,517)      (531,347)         

 Adjusted Net Earnings, PLC shareholders 4,776,840$     5,005,876$     

 Adjusted EBITDA, PLC shareholders

 (see Quarterly Information) 13,397,500$    11,280,499$    

 Per share amounts attributable to 

PLC shareholders

Adjusted Net Earnings - diluted 0.160$           0.214$           

 Adjusted EBITDA - diluted

(see Quarterly Information) 0.450$           0.482$           

Weighted average shares outstanding - diluted 29,776,547 23,399,076

Adjusted Net Earnings and Adjusted EBITDA are non-IFRS measures. See "Description of

Non-IFRS Measures".

 
As indicated in the chart above, Adjusted Net Earnings to PLC shareholders for the three month period ended 

December 31, 2019 was $4,776,840 compared to $5,005,876 in 2018 during the same period. This represents a 

decrease of 4.6% year over year. The fully diluted Adjusted Net Earnings per share for the three month period 

ended December 31, 2019 was $0.160 compared to $0.214 for the same period in 2018, a year over year decrease 

of $0.054 or 25.2%.  

 

 

Adjusted EBITDA Per Share   

 

Adjusted EBITDA attributable to PLC shareholders for the three month period ended December 31, 2019 was 

$13,397,500 compared to $11,280,499 for the same period in 2018, an increase of $2,117,001 or 18.8% over 

2018. The fully diluted Adjusted EBITDA per share for the three month period ended December 31, 2019 was 

$0.450 compared to $0.482 for the same period in 2018, a year over year decrease of $0.032 or 6.6%. 



  

23 
 

 

 

Adjusted Cash Flow  

 

The Company uses Adjusted Cash Flow as a measure of, among other things, the sustainability of its dividend.  

The table below summarizes the calculation of Adjusted Cash Flow from its operations for the three month 

period ended December 31, 2019 and 2018 compared to its dividend payout: 

Three Months Ended December 31,

2019 2018

Earnings before income taxes 941,665$       3,874,804$     

Adjusted for:

Amortization of cemetery property 2,492,331 1,573,661

Depreciation and amortization 3,879,428 1,843,704

Cash income taxes payable (790,000)        370,000         

Share based compensation 849,418 574,723

Adjusted cash flow from operations 7,372,842 8,236,892

Less non controlling interest amounts:

  Net earnings 125,016 125,808

  Depreciation and amortization 45,459 33,900

Adjusted cash flow, equity holders of PLC $7,202,367 $8,077,185

Adjusted cash flow per common share-diluted $0.242 $0.345

Dividends per common share $0.114 $0.114

Payout ratio 47% 33%

Adjusted Cash Flow is a non-IFRS measure. See "Description of Non-IFRS Measures".

 
As calculated above, the Company’s Adjusted Cash Flow from operations was $7,202,367 for the three month 

period ended December 31, 2019 compared to $8,077,185 for the same period in 2018. This represents 

Adjusted Cash Flow per fully diluted common share of $0.242 and $0.345 for the three-month period ended 

December 31, 2019 and 2018, respectively.  

 

The Company paid dividends of $0.114 per common share for the three month periods ended December 31, 

2019 and 2018. The dividends paid represent 47% and 33% of the Adjusted Cash Flow per common share for 

the three month periods ended December 31, 2019 and 2018, respectively. 
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Quarterly Information  
2019                      

Q4

2019                      

Q3

2019                      

Q2

2019                      

Q1

Year Ending 

Dec 31, 2019

Revenue $68,956,490 $66,578,738 $58,570,919 $50,152,985 $244,259,132

Earnings from operations $4,607,987 $6,721,601 $5,854,384 $6,274,647 $23,458,619

Net earnings, PLC shareholders $543,706 $1,579,106 $1,458,782 $3,325,247 $6,906,841

Adjusted Net Earnings, PLC shareholders $4,776,840 $6,581,920 $5,658,024 $5,342,894 $22,359,678

Net earnings per share - basic, PLC 

shareholders *$0.018 *$0.053 *$0.049 *$0.141 *$0.246

Net earnings per share - diluted, PLC 

shareholders *$0.018 *$0.053 *$0.049 *$0.141 *$0.246

Adjusted Net Earnings per share - diluted, 

PLC shareholders *$0.160 *$0.221 *$0.190 *$0.226 *$0.795

Earnings from operations (per above) 4,607,987 6,721,601 5,854,384 6,274,647 23,458,619

Interest expense 1,553,732 1,462,582 1,376,255 1,275,841 5,668,410

Depreciation and amortization 3,879,428 3,884,364 3,272,249 2,423,506 13,459,547

Amortization of cemetery property 2,492,331 2,054,922 1,790,868 1,309,088 7,647,209

Share based compensation 934,197 1,116,805 933,333 627,153 3,611,488

Adjusted EBITDA, non-controlling interest (70,175)          (133,277)         (213,237)        (173,838)         (590,527)          

Adjusted EBITDA, PLC shareholders 13,397,500$    15,106,997$    13,013,852$   11,736,397$    $53,254,746

Adjusted EBITDA margin **19.5% **22.9% **22.6% **23.7% **22.0%

Adjusted EBITDA per share - diluted, PLC 

shareholders *$0.450 *$0.507 *$0.438 *$0.497 *$1.894

2018                      

Q4

2018                  

Q3

2018                  

Q2

2018                  

Q1

Year Ending 

Dec 31, 2018

Revenue $50,625,376 $43,239,963 $40,349,440 $27,206,240 $161,421,019

Earnings from operations $6,489,911 $5,708,435 $4,219,015 $3,455,781 $19,873,142

Net earnings (loss), PLC shareholders $2,212,557 $3,272,770 $(435,849) $1,672,978 $6,722,456

Adjusted Net Earnings, PLC shareholders $5,005,876 $4,588,241 $3,712,472 $2,834,875 $16,141,464

Net earnings per share - basic, PLC 

shareholders *$0.095 *$0.141 *$(0.021) *$0.108 *$0.326

Net earnings (loss) per share - diluted, PLC 

shareholders *$0.095 *$0.141 *$(0.021) *$0.108 *$0.325

Adjusted Net Earnings per share - diluted, 

PLC shareholders *$0.214 *$0.197 *$0.182 *$0.183 *$0.781

Earnings from operations (per above) 6,489,911 5,708,435 4,219,015 3,455,781 19,873,142

Interest expense 969,643 624,497 553,371 249,623 2,397,134

Depreciation and amortization 1,843,704 1,625,566 1,399,521 805,066 5,673,857

Amortization of cemetery property 1,573,661 1,416,176 2,081,037 1,155,831 6,226,705

Share based compensation 589,679 99,631 249,106 247,245 1,185,661

Adjusted EBITDA, non-controlling interest (186,099)         (177,235)         (180,981)        (110,058)         (654,373)          

Adjusted EBITDA, PLC shareholders 11,280,499$    9,297,070$      8,321,069$     5,803,488$     $34,702,126

Adjusted EBITDA margin **22.6% **21.9% **21.1% **21.7% **21.9%

Adjusted EBITDA per share - diluted, PLC 

shareholders *$0.482 *$0.400 *$0.409 *$0.375 *$1.680

  
*The sum of the quarterly amounts per share, basic and diluted, may not equal the period amount due to the 

rounding and use of weighted average shares outstanding. 

**Adjusted EBITDA margin includes amounts attributable to the non-controlling interest. 
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Dividends  

 

The Company makes monthly dividend payments to the shareholders of record on the last business day of each 

month, to be paid on the 15th day following each month end, or, if not a business day, the next business day 

thereafter. The monthly dividend is $0.038 per share ($0.456 per year). The dividend policy is subject to the 

discretion of the Company’s Board and may vary depending on, among other things, the Company’s earnings, 

financial requirements and the satisfaction of solvency tests imposed by the Business Corporations Act (Ontario) 

for the declaration of dividends.   

 

For the years ended December 31, 2019 and December 31, 2018, the Company declared dividends to 

shareholders totaling $0.456 per share. The following table sets forth the per share amounts of monthly 

dividends declared and paid by the Company since January 1, 2019. 

 

Dividend

Month Record Date Payment Date Per Share

December, 2019  December 31, 2019  January 15, 2020 0.038          

November, 2019  November 30, 2019  December 16, 2019 0.038          

October, 2019  October 31, 2019  November 15, 2019 0.038          

September, 2019  September 30, 2019  October 15, 2019 0.038          

August, 2019  August 31, 2019  September 16, 2019 0.038          

July, 2019  July 31, 2019  August 15, 2019 0.038          

June, 2019  June 30, 2019  July 15, 2019 0.038          

May, 2019  May 31, 2019  June 14, 2019 0.038          

April, 2019  April 30, 2019  May 15, 2019 0.038          

March, 2019  March 31, 2019  April 15, 2019 0.038          

February, 2019  February 28, 2019  March 15, 2019 0.038          

January, 2019  January 31, 2019  February 15, 2019 0.038          

Total dividends per share 0.456$        

 

Related Party Transactions 

 

The Company’s related parties include the following persons and entities: (i) associates, or entities which are 

controlled or significantly influenced by the Company; (ii) key management personnel, which are comprised of 

directors and officers by the Company; and (iii) entities controlled by key management personnel.  

 

At the annual and special meeting of shareholders held on June 18, 2013, the shareholders of the Company 

approved an employee share loan plan - the “ESLP”. 

 

Amounts issued under the ESLP were as follows: 

 

• On October 7, 2013, the Company loaned $1,575,000 to Nine Two Seven Limited to acquire 210,000 

common shares of the Company. The loan bears interest at a rate of 3.2% per annum payable upon 

maturity and will mature on August 27, 2023; 
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• On January 7, 2015, the Company loaned $746,200 to Nine Two Seven Limited to acquire 65,000 

common shares of the Company. The loan bears interest at a rate of 3.2% per annum payable upon 

maturity and will mature on January 7, 2025.  

 
Subsequent to year end the two loans described above were forgiven. 

 

On January 7, 2015, under the ESLP the Company loaned $1,258,750 to Leeder Holdings Inc. to acquire 

125,000 common shares of the Company. Leeder Holding Inc. is owned by an officer and director of the 

Company. The loan bears interest at a rate of 3.2% per annum payable upon maturity and will mature on 

January 7, 2025.  

 

Total loans outstanding under the ESLP, including accrued interest amounted to $2,712,688 at December 31, 

2019 (at December 31, 2018 - $3,063,666). Interest income earned by the Company for the years ended 

December 31, 2019 and 2018 was $92,413 and $97,857, respectively.  

 

At the annual and special meeting of shareholders held on May 31, 2016, the shareholders of the Company 

approved the EIP.                    

 

Disclosure Controls and Procedures   

 

National Instrument 52-109 – Certification of Disclosure in Issuers’ Annual and Interim Filing (“NI 52-109”) requires 

public companies in Canada to submit annual and interim certificates relating to the design and effectiveness 

of the disclosure controls and procedures that are in use at the company. Disclosure controls and procedures 

are designed to provide reasonable assurance that material information is gathered and reported to senior 

management, including the Chief Executive Officer (“CEO”) and Chief Financial Officer (“CFO”), on a timely 

basis so that appropriate decisions can be made regarding public disclosure. 

 

Subject to limitations set out below, the Company’s management, under the supervision of the CEO and the 

CFO, has designed and maintained a set of disclosure controls and procedures to ensure that information 

required to be disclosed by the Company in its annual filing, interim filings or other reports filed or submitted 

by the Company under securities legislation is recorded, processed, summarized and reported within the time 

periods specified in securities legislation. 

 

Internal Controls over Financial Reporting 

 

The CEO and the CFO have designed, or caused to be designed under their supervision, internal controls over 

financial reporting to provide reasonable assurance regarding the reliability of financial reporting and the 

preparation of financial statements for external purposes in accordance with IFRS. Management conducted its 

evaluation based on the framework set forth in the Internal Control-Integrated Framework (2013) issued by 

the Committee of Sponsoring Organizations of the Treadway Commission. Based on its evaluation under this 

framework, management concluded that the Company’s internal control over financial reporting was effective 

as of December 31, 2019. 
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Internal control systems, no matter how well designed, have inherent limitations. Therefore, even those systems 

determined to be designed effectively can provide only reasonable assurance with respect to financial reporting 

and financial statement preparation. 

 

Limitation on Scope of Design 

 

The CEO and CFO have limited the scope of design of disclosure controls and procedures and internal control 

over financial reporting to exclude controls, policies and procedures of Baue which was acquired during the 

second quarter of 2019 and Horan which was acquired during the third quarter of 2019. 

 

This scope limitation is in accordance with section 3.3(1)(b) of NI 52-109, which allows an issuer to limit the 

design of disclosure controls and procedures and internal control over financial reporting for a business that 

the issuer acquired not more than 365 days before the last day of the period covered by this MD&A. 

 

The following is a summary of certain financial information related to the recent acquisitions of Baue and 

Horan: 

 

Baue Horan

December 31, 2019 December 31, 2019

Revenue 10,292,989$             13,151,306$             

Net earnings 947,178$                 1,283,501$               

Current assets 4,403,117$               4,065,509$               

Non-current assets 111,469,037$           76,569,290$             

Current liabilities 2,043,548$               1,726,821$               

Non-current liabilities 56,382,675$             55,043,253$             

 
Changes in Internal Controls over Financial Reporting 

 

There have been no changes in the Company’s internal controls over financial reporting during Fiscal 2019 that 

have affected, or are reasonably likely to materially affect, the Company’s internal control over financial 

reporting. 

 

New Accounting Policies Adopted in 2019 

 

The Company’s accounting policies are as disclosed in Note 2 of PLC’s 2019 annual consolidated financial 

statements. There have been no material changes to PLC’s accounting policies from what was disclosed at that 

time, with the exception of the adoption of IFRS 16 as disclosed in Note 2 in the Company’s December 31, 

2019 consolidated financial statements. 
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Effective January 1, 2019, the Company has adopted IFRS 16 using the modified retrospective approach, with 

recognition of a right of use asset equal to the lease liability adjusted for prepaid or accrued lease payments 

immediately before the date of initial application.   

 

The aggregate lease liability recognized in the statement of financial position at January 1, 2019 can be reconciled 

as follows:  

 

Operating lease commitment as at December 31, 2018 7,388,606$        

Effect of discounting those lease commitments (1,067,471)         

6,321,135$        

 
A corresponding right-of-use asset of $6,321,135 has been recognized in the statement of financial position as 

at January 1, 2019 and has been classified as property and equipment.  

 

The transition to IFRS 16 on January 1, 2019 for the twelve month period ended December 31, 2019, had an 

impact of increased depreciation of approximately $1,770,000, and interest expense of approximately $340,000, 

offset by the removal of lease payments of approximately $2,010,000 in operating expenses for a net increase 

of approximately $100,000 in operating expenses and a corresponding decrease in net earnings. Adjusted 

EBITDA increased by approximately $2,010,000 for the twelve month period ended December 31, 2019, 

respectively.  

 

Shares Outstanding 

 

The authorized capital of the Company consists of an unlimited number of common shares. As at December 

31, 2019, there were 29,354,844 common shares issued and outstanding, representing an increase of 6,219,529 

common shares issued and outstanding since December 31, 2018. The increase in the number of common 

shares is the result of the issuance of shares pursuant to the April 2019 equity offering and the Company’s 

DRIP and EIP. As at March 30, 2020, there were 29,425,112 common shares issued and outstanding. In 

addition, the Company has 2,000,000 common shares reserved and available for grant and issuance of the EIP. 

Of these 2,000,000 common shares, 1,945,245 are reserved for the issuance to employees and 54,755 common 

shares are reserved for issuance to directors. As at March 30, 2020, 37,012 DSU’s, 278,547 RSUs, 61,440 PSUs 

and 1,000,000 Options were outstanding.  

 

Additional Information 

 

Additional information relating to the Company, including the Company’s Annual Information Form, is 

available on SEDAR at www.sedar.com and on the Company’s website at www.parklawncorp.com. 

http://www.sedar.com/
http://www.parklawncorp.com/


Independent Auditor's Report 

To the Shareholders of Park Lawn Corporation: 

Opinion 

We have audited the consolidated financial statements of Park Lawn Corporation and its subsidiaries (the "Company"), which comprise 
the consolidated statements of financial position as at December 31, 2019 and December 31, 2018, and the consolidated statements of 
earnings, comprehensive (loss) income, changes in shareholders' equity and cash flows for the years then ended, and notes to the 
consolidated financial statements, including a summary of significant accounting policies. 

In our opinion, the accompanying consolidated financial statements present fairly, in all material respects, the consolidated financial 
position of the Company as at December 31, 2019 and December 31, 2018, and its consolidated financial performance and its 
consolidated cash flows for the years then ended in accordance with International Financial Reporting Standards. 

Basis for Opinion 

We conducted our audits in accordance with Canadian generally accepted auditing standards. Our responsibilities under those standards 
are further described in the Auditor’s Responsibilities for the Audit of the Consolidated Financial Statements section of our report. We are 
independent of the Company in accordance with the ethical requirements that are relevant to our audits of the consolidated financial 
statements in Canada, and we have fulfilled our other ethical responsibilities in accordance with these requirements. We believe that the 
audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion. 

Other Information 

Management is responsible for the other information. The other information comprises: 
 Management’s Discussion and Analysis
 The information, other than the consolidated financial statements and our auditor’s report thereon, in the Annual Report.

Our opinion on the consolidated financial statements does not cover the other information and we do not and will not express any form of 
assurance conclusion thereon. 

In connection with our audits of the consolidated financial statements, our responsibility is to read the other information identified above 
and, in doing so, consider whether the other information is materially inconsistent with the consolidated financial statements or our 
knowledge obtained in the audits or otherwise appears to be materially misstated. 

We obtained Management’s Discussion and Analysis prior to the date of this auditor’s report. If, based on the work we have performed on 
the other information obtained prior to the date of this auditor's report, we conclude that there is a material misstatement of this other 
information, we are required to report that fact. We have nothing to report in this regard. 

The Annual Report is expected to be made available to us after the date of the auditor’s report. If, based on the work we will perform on 
this other information, we conclude that there is a material misstatement therein, we are required to communicate the matter to those 
charged with governance. 

Responsibilities of Management and Those Charged with Governance for the Consolidated Financial Statements 

Management is responsible for the preparation and fair presentation of the consolidated financial statements in accordance with 
International Financial Reporting Standards, and for such internal control as management determines is necessary to enable the 
preparation of consolidated financial statements that are free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error. 

In preparing the consolidated financial statements, management is responsible for assessing the Company’s ability to continue as a 
going concern, disclosing, as applicable, matters related to going concern and using the going concern basis of accounting unless 
management either intends to liquidate the Company or to cease operations, or has no realistic alternative but to do so. 

Those charged with governance are responsible for overseeing the Company’s financial reporting process. 

Auditor's Responsibilities for the Audit of the Consolidated Financial Statements 

Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the consolidated financial statements as a whole are free from material 
misstatement, whether due to fraud or error, and to issue an auditor's report that includes our opinion. Reasonable assurance is a high 
level of assurance, but is not a guarantee that an audit conducted in accordance with Canadian generally accepted auditing standards 
will always detect a material misstatement when it exists. Misstatements can arise from fraud or error and are considered material if, 
individually or in the aggregate, they could reasonably be expected to influence the economic decisions of users taken on the basis of 
these consolidated financial statements.
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As part of an audit in accordance with Canadian generally accepted auditing standards, we exercise professional judgment and maintain 
professional skepticism throughout the audit. We also: 

 Identify and assess the risks of material misstatement of the consolidated financial statements, whether due to fraud or error,
design and perform audit procedures responsive to those risks, and obtain audit evidence that is sufficient and appropriate to
provide a basis for our opinion. The risk of not detecting a material misstatement resulting from fraud is higher than for one
resulting from error, as fraud may involve collusion, forgery, intentional omissions, misrepresentations, or the override of internal
control.

 Obtain an understanding of internal control relevant to the audit in order to design audit procedures that are appropriate in the
circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing an opinion on the effectiveness of the Company’s internal control.

 Evaluate the appropriateness of accounting policies used and the reasonableness of accounting estimates and related
disclosures made by management.

 Conclude on the appropriateness of management's use of the going concern basis of accounting and, based on the audit
evidence obtained, whether a material uncertainty exists related to events or conditions that may cast significant doubt on the
Company’s ability to continue as a going concern. If we conclude that a material uncertainty exists, we are required to draw
attention in our auditor's report to the related disclosures in the consolidated financial statements or, if such disclosures are
inadequate, to modify our opinion. Our conclusions are based on the audit evidence obtained up to the date of our auditor's
report. However, future events or conditions may cause the Company to cease to continue as a going concern.

 Evaluate the overall presentation, structure and content of the consolidated financial statements, including the disclosures, and
whether the consolidated financial statements represent the underlying transactions and events in a manner that achieves fair
presentation.

 Obtain sufficient appropriate audit evidence regarding the financial information of the entities or business activities within the
Company to express an opinion on the consolidated financial statements. We are responsible for the direction, supervision and
performance of the group audit. We remain solely responsible for our audit opinion.

We communicate with those charged with governance regarding, among other matters, the planned scope and timing of the audits and 
significant audit findings, including any significant deficiencies in internal control that we identify during our audits. 

We also provide those charged with governance with a statement that we have complied with relevant ethical requirements regarding 
independence, and to communicate with them all relationships and other matters that may reasonably be thought to bear on our 
independence, and where applicable, related safeguards. 

The engagement partner on the audit resulting in this independent auditor's report is Patrycja Anna Kajda. 

Mississauga, Ontario Chartered Professional Accountants 

March 30, 2020  Licensed Public Accountants 
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PARK LAWN CORPORATION
CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF FINANCIAL POSITION
FOR THE YEARS ENDED DECEMBER 31, 2019 AND 2018

December 31, December 31,
2019 2018

(Restated, 
Measurement Period 

Adjustment - see 
Note 6)

Assets
Current assets

Cash 21,255,330$         14,149,092$         
Accounts receivable 13,506,860          8,976,690            
Pre-need receivables, current portion (Note 4) 29,044,341          26,204,444          
Inventories, current portion (Note 5) 9,459,240            9,988,909            
Prepaid expenses and other current assets (Note 13) 10,253,633          3,601,132            

83,519,404          62,920,267          
Non-current assets

Pre-need receivables, net of current portion (Note 4) 58,015,914          57,917,186          
Inventories, net of current portion (Note 5) 83,309,709          76,525,265          
Land held for development (Note 7) 22,138,968          14,793,930          
Property and equipment (Note 8) 194,585,169        126,395,369        
Care and maintenance trust fund investments (Note 9) 224,494,986        195,927,256        
Pre-need merchandise and service trust fund investments (Note 10) 257,150,385        157,597,312        
Deferred tax assets (Note 28) 5,858,634            4,113,646            
Goodwill and intangibles (Note 6 and 12) 379,253,330        284,982,610        
Deferred commissions 28,191,067          22,977,219          
Other assets (Note 13 and 33) 38,003,291          10,856,828          

1,291,001,453      952,086,621        

TOTAL ASSETS 1,374,520,857$    1,015,006,888$    

Liabilities
Current liabilities

Accounts payable and accrued liabilities (Note 14 and 29) 31,344,065$         20,495,554$         
Dividends payable 1,115,484            879,142               
Current portion of long-term debt (Note 15) 421,074               298,826               
Current portion of notes payable (Note 16) 1,323,036            426,604               
Current portion of lease liabilities (Note 17) 1,831,687            - 

36,035,346          22,100,126          
Non-current liabilities

Long-term debt, net of current portion (Note 15) 173,465,316        91,045,776          
Notes payable, net of current portion (Note 16) 7,368,286            4,277,811            
Lease liabilities, net of current portion (Note 17) 4,682,043            - 
Deferred revenue (Note 18) 150,254,843        138,614,401        
Deferred tax liabilities (Note 28) 6,544,817            4,970,996            
Care and maintenance trusts' corpus (Note 9) 224,494,986        195,927,256        
Deferred pre-need receipts held in trust (Note 10) 257,150,385        157,597,312        

823,960,676        592,433,552        
Shareholders' Equity

Share capital (Note 21) 502,047,830        363,957,423        
Contributed surplus 7,618,962            2,297,514            
Accumulated other comprehensive income (2,112,155)           21,888,697          
Retained earnings 5,091,160            10,829,808          

512,645,797        398,973,442        
Non-controlling interest 1,879,038            1,499,768            

514,524,835        400,473,210        

TOTAL LIABILITIES AND SHAREHOLDERS' EQUITY 1,374,520,857$    1,015,006,888$    

Commitments and Contingencies (Note 31)
Subsequent Events (Note 33)

Approved by the Board of Directors
"Andrew Clark" "Joseph Leeder"
Andrew Clark - CEO, Director Joseph Leeder - CFO, Director

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these consolidated financial statements
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PARK LAWN CORPORATION
CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF EARNINGS
FOR THE YEARS ENDED DECEMBER 31, 2019 AND 2018

2019 2018
Revenue
Sales 223,155,812$         148,143,419$         
Income from care and maintenance funds (Note 9) 10,827,579 8,769,883
Interest and other income (Note 26) 10,275,741 4,507,717

244,259,132 161,421,019

Cost of sales 46,813,191 33,426,046

Gross profit 197,445,941 127,994,973

Operating expenses
General and administrative (Note 23) 101,588,439 54,839,489
Amortization of intangibles (Note 12 and 23) 2,811,894 311,074
Maintenance (Note 23) 31,583,242 26,023,728
Advertising and selling (Note 23) 28,723,849 23,364,745
Interest expense (Note 24) 5,668,410 2,397,134
Share based incentive compensation (Note 25) 3,611,488 1,185,661

173,987,322 108,121,831

Earnings from operations 23,458,619 19,873,142

Acquisition and integration costs (Note 6) (12,964,150)          (10,384,125)          
Other (expenses) (Note 27) (420,266)               (203,554) 

Earnings before income taxes 10,074,203           9,285,463             

Income tax expense (Note 28) 2,788,092             2,165,882             

Net earnings for the year 7,286,111$           7,119,581$           

Net earnings attributable to:
Equity holders of PLC 6,906,841$           6,722,456$           
Non-controlling interest 379,270 397,125 

7,286,111$           7,119,581$           

Attributable to equity holders of PLC
Net earnings per share - basic 0.246$  0.326$  

Net earnings per share - diluted 0.246$  0.325$  

Weighted average number of common shares:
- basic 28,042,373 20,610,121

- diluted 28,121,174 20,655,472

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these consolidated financial statements.
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PARK LAWN CORPORATION
CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF COMPREHENSIVE (LOSS) INCOME
FOR THE YEARS ENDED DECEMBER 31, 2019 AND 2018

2019 2018

Net earnings for the year 7,286,111$           7,119,581$           
Item of other comprehensive income to be
subsequently reclassified to net income

Foreign currency translation of foreign operations (24,000,852)          23,542,789           

Comprehensive (loss) income (16,714,741)$        30,662,370$         

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these consolidated financial statements.
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PARK LAWN CORPORATION
CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF CHANGES IN SHAREHOLDERS' EQUITY

FOR THE YEARS ENDED DECEMBER 31, 2019 AND 2018
Accumulated

# of Common Other Non
Shares Issued Contributed Retained Comprehensive Controlling Shareholders'

and Outstanding Share Capital Surplus Earnings Income/Loss Interest Equity
Balance at January 1, 2018 15,346,732 179,775,963$ 1,133,771$  1,691,930$    (1,654,092)$      1,102,643$ 182,050,215$  

Dividends declared (Note 20) - - -             (9,361,258)    - -             (9,361,258)      

Shares issued:
Dividend reinvestment plan (Note 21(i)) 43,333            992,914         -             -               - -             992,914          

Equity incentive plan (Note 25) - - 1,163,743    -               - -             1,163,743       

Prospectus financing, net of costs (Note 21(ii)) 7,745,250       183,188,546   -             -               - -             183,188,546    

Adoption of IFRS 15 (Note 2) - - -             11,776,680    - -             11,776,680      

Other comprehensive income - - -             -               23,542,789       - 23,542,789 

Net earnings for the year - - -             6,722,456     - 397,125 7,119,581 

Balance at December 31, 2018 23,135,315 363,957,423$ 2,297,514$  10,829,808$  21,888,697$      1,499,768$ 400,473,210$  

Balance at January 1, 2019 23,135,315 363,957,423$ 2,297,514$  10,829,808$  21,888,697$      1,499,768$ 400,473,210$  

Dividends declared (Note 20) - - -             (12,645,489)  - -             (12,645,489)    

Shares issued:
Dividend reinvestment plan (Note 21(i)) 82,220            2,130,633       -             -               - -             2,130,633       

Equity incentive plan (Note 25) 34,052            - 3,231,167 -               - -             3,231,167       

Prospectus financing, net of costs (Note 21(ii)) 5,605,100       138,375,634   -             -               - -             138,375,634    

Contingent equity consideration (Note 21(iii)) 498,157          (2,415,860)     2,090,281    -               - -             (325,579)         

Other comprehensive loss - - -             -               (24,000,852)      - (24,000,852) 

Net earnings for the year - - -             6,906,841     - 379,270 7,286,111 

Balance at December 31, 2019 29,354,844 502,047,830$ 7,618,962$  5,091,160$    (2,112,155)$      1,879,038$ 514,524,835$  

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these consolidated financial statements.
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PARK LAWN CORPORATION
CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF CASH FLOWS
FOR THE YEARS ENDED DECEMBER 31, 2019 AND 2018

2019 2018

Cash provided by (used in):
Operating activities

Net earnings for the year 7,286,111$              7,119,581$              
Adjustments to reconcile net income to cash provided by (used in) operating activities:

Acquisition and integration costs 12,964,150              10,384,125              
Deferred tax expense/asset 880,317 1,394,099 
Depreciation of property and equipment, 
investment properties and amortization of intangibles (Note 8 and 12) 13,459,547              5,673,857 
Amortization of cemetery property (Note 5) 7,647,209 6,226,705 
Amortization of deferred commissions 3,016,266 3,346,556 
Amortization of deferred financing costs (Note 15) 296,245 161,873 
Interest on lease liabilities (Note 17) 338,462 - 
Share based incentive compensation (Note 25) 3,231,167 1,163,743 
(Gain) loss on disposal of property and equipment (Note 8) 115,744 - 
(Gain) loss on change in fair value of contingent payments (Note 19) - 110,710 
(Gain) loss on shares settlement (Note 21) (179,633) - 

Changes in working capital that provided (required) cash:
Accounts receivable (208,739) (568,707) 
Net receipts on pre-need activity (5,465,598)               (4,060,183)               
Merchandise inventories (218,245) (746,550) 
Prepaid expenses and other current assets 405,222 (1,199,575)               
Accounts payable and accrued liabilities 5,898,001 1,836,512 

Cash provided by (used in) operating activities 49,466,226              30,842,746              

Investing activities
Acquisition and integration costs (12,964,150)             (10,384,125)             
Net cash on acquisitions and other strategic transactions (Note 6) (174,643,970)           (257,122,738)           
Additions to cemetery property (9,998,847)               (5,666,260)               
Acquisition of property and equipment (Note 8) (14,002,349)             (8,220,635)               
Proceeds on disposal of property and equipment (Note 8) 2,739,292 53,483 
Land held for development (Note 7) (30,090) (659,511) 
Deferred commissions (4,299,415)               (3,835,146)               
Decrease (increase) in other assets (Note 13) (33,679,299)             (6,629,568)               

Cash provided by (used in) investing activities (246,878,828)           (292,464,500)           

Financing activities
Proceeds from issuance of long-term debt (Note 15) 123,716,925            90,464,654              
Repayment of long-term debt (Note 15) (40,150,011)             (1,901,049)               
Repayment of lease liabilities (Note 17) (2,009,049)               - 
Proceeds (repayment) of note payable (Note 16) (566,554) 508,611 
Proceeds from financing, net of costs (Note 15) 136,435,744            180,930,773            
Dividends and distributions paid (Note 20) (10,514,856)             (8,368,344)               
Deferred financing costs (Note 15) (1,321,371)               (252,593) 
Cash paid to settle contingent consideration (Note 21) (624,966) - 

Cash provided by (used in) financing activities 204,965,862            261,382,052            

Translation adjustment on cash (447,022) 1,652,296 

Net increase (decrease) in cash 7,106,238 1,412,594 
Cash, beginning of year 14,149,092              12,736,498              
Cash, end of year 21,255,330$            14,149,092$            

Supplemental disclosures:
Income taxes paid 701,268$  663,810$  

Interest expenses paid 4,963,528$              2,323,418$              

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these consolidated financial statements.
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PARK LAWN CORPORATION 
NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 
FOR THE YEARS ENDED DECEMBER 31, 2019 AND 2018 

1. NATURE OF OPERATIONS

Park Lawn Corporation (the “Company” or “PLC”), located at 2 St. Clair Ave. West, Suite 1300, Toronto,

Ontario, M4V 1L5, is an Ontario corporation which owns and operates cemeteries, crematoriums and

funeral homes in Canada and the U.S. The Company is publicly traded on the TSX with the stock symbol

of PLC.

2. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

a. Statement of compliance

The consolidated financial statements have been prepared in accordance with International Financial

Reporting Standards (“IFRS”) as issued by the International Accounting Standards Board (“IASB”).

These consolidated financial statements were approved by the Company’s Board of Directors on

March 30, 2020.

b. Basis of presentation

The consolidated financial statements of the Company have been prepared on a historical cost basis

with the exception of certain financial instruments that are measured at fair value. Historical cost is

generally based on the fair value of the consideration given in exchange for assets.

c. Functional currency

The consolidated financial statements are presented in Canadian dollars, which is also the parent

company’s functional currency. Each entity within the consolidated group determines its own

functional currency and items included in the consolidated financial statements of each entity are

remeasured using the functional currency. The consolidated financial statements of foreign subsidiaries

for which the functional currency is not the Canadian dollar are translated into Canadian dollars using

the exchange rate in effect at the end of the reporting period for assets and liabilities and the average

exchange rates for the period for revenue, expenses and cash flows. Foreign exchange differences

arising on translation are recognized in other comprehensive income and in accumulated other

comprehensive income in shareholders’ equity.

Within each entity, transactions in currencies other than the functional currency are recorded at the

rates of exchange prevailing on dates of transactions. At the end of each reporting period, monetary

assets and liabilities denominated in foreign currencies are translated to the functional currency at the

exchange rate at that date. Foreign exchange differences arising on translation are recognized in the

consolidated statements of earnings. Non-monetary assets and liabilities that are measured at historical

cost are translated using the exchange rate at the date of the transaction.
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PARK LAWN CORPORATION 
NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 
FOR THE YEARS ENDED DECEMBER 31, 2019 AND 2018 

2. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES - continued

d. Basis of consolidation

The consolidated financial statements incorporate the financial statements of the Company and

entities, including structured entities (“SEs”) controlled by the Company. Control exists when the

Company is exposed to, or has the rights to, variable returns from its involvement with the entity and

has the ability to affect those returns through its power over the entity.

Investment entities

The Company consolidates SEs when it has control over such SEs, irrespective of the size of the equity

investment held in a particular SE.

Pre-need merchandise and service trust fund investments represent amounts set aside in both

provincially and state legislated trust funds related to pre-need cemetery and funeral contracts. Care

and maintenance fund investments represent amounts set aside in trust for provincially and state

legislated care and maintenance fund obligations and non-legislated care and maintenance fund

investments related to cemetery interment right sales. These trust funds are SEs as defined in IFRS 12,

“Disclosure of interests in other entities.” The Company assesses control over these entities in

accordance with IFRS 10, “Consolidated financial statements.”  In accordance with this guidance, the

Company has determined that the Company is the primary beneficiary of these trusts, as the Company

is exposed to the majority of variable losses and returns associated with these trusts and has the ability

to affect those returns through its power over the trusts. The Company directs the investment policies

of these trust funds to obtain the majority of the benefits of the activities of these trusts.

Pre-need trust fund 

The pre-need merchandise and service trust funds are recorded at fair value and amortized cost. Any

unrealized net gain or loss resulting from changes in the fair value of the legislated trust funds, as well

as accumulated and undistributed income, are recorded to deferred pre-need receipts held in trust.

Care and maintenance trust fund

The care and maintenance fund investments are recorded at fair value and amortized cost. Any

unrealized net gain or loss resulting from changes in the fair value of the cemetery care and maintenance

fund investments is recorded to the care trusts’ corpus.

Transactions eliminated on consolidation

All intra-group transactions, balances, income and expenses are eliminated in full on consolidation.
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PARK LAWN CORPORATION 
NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 
FOR THE YEARS ENDED DECEMBER 31, 2019 AND 2018 

2. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES - continued

e. Earnings per share

Basic earnings per share are computed by dividing net earnings by the weighted average number of

common shares outstanding for the period. Diluted earnings per share are calculated using the same

method as basic earnings per share adjusted for the weighted average number of common shares

outstanding for the period to reflect the dilutive impact, if any, of convertible instruments and

equivalents, assuming they were exercised for the number of common shares calculated by applying

the treasury stock method.

f. Revenue recognition

IFRS 15 is a single model for recognizing revenue from contracts with customers. This standard applies

to all contracts with customers. The standard requires revenue to be recognized in a manner that

depicts the transfer of promised goods or services to a customer and at an amount that reflects the

consideration expected to be received in exchange for transferring those goods or services. This is

achieved by applying the following five steps: i) identify the contract with a customer; ii) identify the

performance obligations in the contract; iii) determine the transaction price; iv) allocate the transaction

price to the performance obligations in the contract; and v) recognize revenue when (or as) the entity

satisfies a performance obligation.

The Company’s revenue streams are from the sale of cemetery property interment rights, cemetery

services and merchandise sales, and funeral services and merchandise sales as described below:

Cemetery property interment rights

For cemetery property interment rights performance obligations, control transfers to the customer

when the property is developed and the interment right has been sold and can no longer be marketed

or sold to another customer. In jurisdictions that allow contracts for the sale of pre-need cemetery

interment rights to be cancelled by the customer prior to burial, cancellation estimates have been

provided for, based on historical experience and current trends.

Cemetery services

Cemetery services consist primarily of opening and closing fees and merchandise installation fees. For

cemetery service performance obligations, control transfers to the customer when the service is

complete. Sales of cemetery services are recognized as revenue at the date of the performance of the

service.
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PARK LAWN CORPORATION 
NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 
FOR THE YEARS ENDED DECEMBER 31, 2019 AND 2018 

2. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES - continued

f. Revenue recognition - continued

Merchandise sales

Merchandise sales for the cemetery business consist primarily of outer burial containers, memorial

markers and other ancillary merchandise. Merchandise sales for the funeral business consist primarily

of burial caskets, urns, outer burial containers and other ancillary funeral and cremation merchandise.

For the merchandise sale performance obligations, control transfers when merchandise is delivered.

For at-need contracts, the Company generally delivers the merchandise and performs the services at

the time of need. Personalized marker merchandise and marker installation services sold on at-need

contracts are recognized when control is transferred to the customer, generally when the marker is

delivered and installed in the cemetery.

The Company also sells price-guaranteed pre-need contracts providing for future merchandise at prices

prevailing when the agreements are signed. Revenue associated with sales of pre-need contracts is

deferred until control of the merchandise or the services is transferred to the customer, which is upon

delivery of the merchandise, generally at the time of need.

On certain pre-need contracts, the Company sells memorialization merchandise that is delivered to the

customer at the time of sale. Revenue is recognized at the time of delivery when control of the

memorialization merchandise is transferred.

For personalized marker merchandise sold on a pre-need contract, the Company will purchase the

merchandise from vendors, personalize merchandise in accordance with the customer's specific written

instructions, either store the merchandise or install the merchandise based on the customer's

instructions, and transfer title to the customer.

Revenue is recognized and the cost of sales is recorded when control is transferred for the merchandise,

which occurs upon delivery or installation of the merchandise at the cemetery.

Funeral services

Funeral services include arranging and directing funeral services, cremations and other ancillary funeral

services. For the funeral services performance obligations, control transfers when the service is

complete.

Sales of funeral services are recognized as revenue at the date of the performance of the service.
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PARK LAWN CORPORATION 
NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 
FOR THE YEARS ENDED DECEMBER 31, 2019 AND 2018 

2. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES - continued

f. Revenue recognition - continued

Investment income – pre-need services and merchandise

The Company is entitled to retain, in certain jurisdictions, the interest, capital gains and dividends

within the trusts as earned, which is considered to be at the point of time the pre-need contract

becomes at-need.  These amounts are recognized as sales revenue when the merchandise and services

on the underlying pre-need cemetery or funeral contracts are delivered or performed, respectively.

This investment income is intended to offset inflationary price increases from the time of the pre-need

contract to delivery.

In the state of Michigan, the Company is entitled to retain the interest, capital gains and dividends as

earned, which is considered to be income at the point of time the investment has been realized and

distributed to the Company. Interest and dividends are recognized in sales revenue when distributed.

This interest and dividends are intended to offset inflationary price increases from the time of the pre-

need contract to delivery. Realized capital gains are recorded as interest and other income at the time

of distribution, as these distributions are over and above the inflationary price increase from time of

the pre-need contract to delivery.

Investment income – care and maintenance funds

A portion of the proceeds from the sale of cemetery property interment rights is required by state or

provincial law to be paid by the Company into perpetual care trust funds to maintain the cemetery.

Investment earnings from these trusts are distributed regularly and recognized in income from care

and maintenance funds by the Company as earned and withdrawn. These distributions are intended to

defray cemetery maintenance costs incurred for cemetery properties, which are expensed as incurred.

Finance charges

The instalment accounts receivable contracts contain a financing component. Finance charges on the

uncollected balance of instalment accounts receivable are recognized in interest and other income over

the term of the sales agreement using the effective interest method.

Cost of sales

Costs related to the sale of property interment rights include the property and construction costs

specifically identified by project. Upon completion of the project, construction costs are charged to

expense when the property interment right is delivered. Costs such as direct labour, property,

merchandise, direct supplies and perpetual care are recognized when the merchandise or services are

delivered.
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PARK LAWN CORPORATION 
NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 
FOR THE YEARS ENDED DECEMBER 31, 2019 AND 2018 

2. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES - continued

Deferred revenue and commissions 

Deferred revenue arises in connection with the sales of pre-need cemetery and funeral merchandise 

and services.  

The Company defers incremental commission costs paid as a result of obtaining contracts with 

customers as deferred commission assets and amortizes these costs to selling and advertising expenses 

as the related deferred revenues are recognized. 

g. Deferred revenue

Deferred revenue arises in connection with sales of pre-need cemetery and funeral merchandise and

services, the recognition of which is deferred until they meet the requirements of the Company’s

revenue recognition policies. The corresponding investment income earned on legislated trust fund

investments is similarly deferred. Contracts for the sale of pre-need cemetery and funeral merchandise

and services can be cancelled by the customer prior to delivery. The Company estimates the portion

of deferred revenue that will ultimately be cancelled based on historical experience and current trends.

Deferred revenue is net of an allowance for cancellations.

h. Financial instruments

The Company adopted IFRS 9, “Financial instruments, classification and measurement” on January 1,

2018, applying the limited exemption for transition for classification and measurement and impairment,

and accordingly, has not restated comparative periods in the year of initial application.

Classification

The Company classifies its financial assets and financial liabilities in the following measurement

categories i) those to be measured subsequently at fair value through profit or loss (FVTPL); ii) those

to be measured subsequently at fair value through other comprehensive income (FVOCI); and iii)

those to be measured at amortized cost. The classification of financial assets depends on the business

model for managing the financial assets and the contractual terms of the cash flows. Financial liabilities

are classified as those to be measured at amortized cost unless they are designated as those to be

measured subsequently at FVTPL (irrevocable election at the time of recognition). For assets and

liabilities measured at fair value, gains and losses are either recorded in the consolidated statements of

earnings or other comprehensive income.

The Company reclassifies financial assets when and only when its business model for managing those

assets changes. Financial liabilities are not reclassified.
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PARK LAWN CORPORATION 
NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 
FOR THE YEARS ENDED DECEMBER 31, 2019 AND 2018 

2. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES - continued

h. Financial instruments - continued

Amortized cost 

This category includes financial assets that are held within a business model with the objective to hold 

the financial assets in order to collect contractual cash flows that meet the solely principal and interest 

("SPPI") criterion. Financial assets classified in this category are measured at amortized cost using the 

effective interest method. 

Fair value through profit or loss 

This category includes derivative instruments as well as quoted equity instruments which the Company 

has not irrevocably elected, at initial recognition or transition, to classify at FVOCI. This category 

would also include debt instruments whose cash flow characteristics fail the SPPI criterion or are not 

held within a business model whose objective is either to collect contractual cash flows, or to both 

collect contractual cash flows and sell. Financial assets in this category are recorded at fair value with 

changes recognized in the consolidated statements of earnings. 

Financial assets at fair value through other comprehensive income 

Equity instruments that are not held-for-trading can be irrevocably designated to have their change in 

fair value recognized through other comprehensive income instead of through the consolidated 

statements of earnings. This election can be made on individual instruments and is not required to be 

made for the entire class of instruments. Attributable transaction costs are included in the carrying 

value of the instruments. Financial assets at fair value through other comprehensive income are initially 

measured at fair value and changes therein are recognized in other comprehensive income. 

Measurement 

All financial instruments are required to be measured at fair value on initial recognition, plus, in the 

case of a financial asset or a financial liability not measured at FVTPL, transaction costs that are directly 

attributable to the acquisition or issuance of the financial asset or financial liability. Transaction costs 

of financial assets and financial liabilities carried at FVTPL are expensed in profit or loss. Financial 

assets and financial liabilities with embedded derivatives are considered in their entirety when 

determining whether their cash flows are solely payment of principal and interest. 

Financial assets that are held within a business model whose objective is to collect the contractual cash 

flows, and that have contractual cash flows that are solely payments of principal and interest on the 

principal outstanding are generally measured at amortized cost at the end of the subsequent accounting 

periods. All other financial assets including equity investments are measured at their fair values at the 

end of subsequent accounting periods, with any changes recognized through the consolidated 

statements of earnings or other comprehensive income (irrevocable election at the time of recognition). 

For financial liabilities measured subsequently at FVTPL, changes in fair value due to credit risk are 

recorded in other comprehensive income. 
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PARK LAWN CORPORATION 
NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 
FOR THE YEARS ENDED DECEMBER 31, 2019 AND 2018 

2. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES - continued

h. Financial instruments - continued

Impairment

The Company assesses all information available, including on a forward-looking basis, the expected

credit losses associated with its assets carried at amortized cost. The impairment methodology applied

depends on whether there has been a significant increase in credit risk. To assess whether there is a

significant increase in credit risk, the Company compares the risk of a default occurring on the asset as

at the reporting date with the risk of default as at the date of initial recognition based on all information

available, and reasonable and supportive forward-looking information.

For accounts receivable and pre-need receivables, the Company applies the simplified approach as

permitted by IFRS 9. The approach that the Company has taken for accounts receivable and pre-need

receivables is a provisional matrix, whereby lifetime expected credit losses are recognized based on

aging characterization and credit worthiness of customers. Specific provisions may be used where there

is information that a specific customer’s expected credit losses have increased.

    IFRS 9 

Classification Measurement 

Cash FVTPL Fair value 

Accounts receivable  Amortized cost Amortized cost 

Pre-need receivables Amortized cost Amortized cost 

Pre-need merchandise and service trust fund investments FVTPL and Fair value and amortized cost 

Care and maintenance trust fund investments 
amortized cost 
FVTPL and Fair value and amortized cost 

Other assets 
amortized cost 
FVTLP and Fair value and amortized cost 

Accounts payable and accrued liabilities 
amortized cost 
Amortized cost Amortized cost 

Dividends payable Amortized cost Amortized cost 

Long-term debt Amortized cost Amortized cost 

Notes payable Amortized cost Amortized cost 

Deferred pre-need receipts held in trust FVTPL Fair value 

Care and maintenance trusts’ corpus  FVTPL Fair value 

Contingent payments  FVTPL Fair value 

i. Accounts receivable

Accounts receivable represent amounts due from customers related to at-need cemetery and funeral

contracts and miscellaneous current receivables. For accounts receivable impairment, the Company

applies the simplified approach as permitted by IFRS 9.
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PARK LAWN CORPORATION 
NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 
FOR THE YEARS ENDED DECEMBER 31, 2019 AND 2018 

2. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES - continued

j. Pre-need receivables

Pre-need receivables represent installment accounts receivable due from customers related to pre-need

cemetery and funeral contracts. Installment accounts receivable are recorded at amortized cost at the

time a contract is signed, net of a provision for cancellations. In jurisdictions that allow contracts for

these accounts to be cancelled, the Company provides a cancellation reserve for cemetery receivables.

This allowance is based on an analysis of historical and future expected trends of collection and

cancellation activity.

Where permitted by provincial or state law, customers may arrange their pre-need funeral contracts by

purchasing an insurance policy. The pre-need funeral contracts secured by third party insurance policies

are not recorded as assets or liabilities of the Company. See Note 11 to the consolidated financial

statements for further information.

k. Inventories

Inventories include unsold merchandise inventories and the unamortized acquisition, construction and

development cost of crypts, niches and developed cemetery land. Inventories are carried at the lower

of cost and net realizable value. Net realizable value is the estimated selling price in the ordinary course

of business, less the estimated costs necessary to make the sale. Rebates and allowances received from

vendors are recognized as a reduction to the cost of inventory unless the rebates clearly relate to the

reimbursement of specific expenses.

l. Property and equipment

Property and equipment are stated at cost less accumulated depreciation and any impairment losses.

Land is stated at cost less any impairment.

Depreciation is charged so as to write off the cost of assets over their estimated useful lives, using the

declining-balance method after taking into account their estimated residual values. Depreciation begins

when the property and equipment become available for use. Depreciation is charged to the

consolidated statements of earnings and comprehensive income.

The estimated useful lives, residual values and depreciation method are reviewed at each reporting

period, with the effect of any changes in estimate accounted for on a prospective basis. The estimated

useful lives of property and equipment of the Company as estimated by the management are as follows:

Annual rates 

Building, cemetery and funeral 3-5%

Machine, equipment and automotive 10-30%

Cemetery improvements 5-10%
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PARK LAWN CORPORATION 
NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 
FOR THE YEARS ENDED DECEMBER 31, 2019 AND 2018 

2. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES - continued

l. Property and equipment - continued

The carrying values of property and equipment are reviewed for impairment when events or changes

in circumstances indicate that the carrying values may not be recoverable.

Gains and losses on disposals are determined by comparing net proceeds with carrying amounts and

are included in the consolidated statements of earnings.

At the end of each reporting period, the Company assesses whether there is an indication that an asset,

goodwill or cash-generating unit (“CGU”) may be impaired. If any indication exists, the Company

estimates the recoverable amount. The recoverable amount is the higher of an asset’s, or CGU’s fair

value less costs to sell and its value in use. Where the carrying value of an asset or CGU exceeds its

recoverable amount, the asset or CGU is considered to be impaired and is written down to its

recoverable amount. Goodwill is tested for impairment annually regardless of any indications.

Impairment losses are recognized in the consolidated statements of earnings in those expense

categories consistent with the function of the impaired asset.

The Company evaluates impairment charges of long-lived assets for potential reversals when events or

circumstances warrant such consideration. Impairment losses related to goodwill cannot be reversed

in future periods. An impairment loss recognized in prior years for intangible assets, other than

goodwill, is reversed if there has been a change in the estimates used to determine the asset’s

recoverable amount since the last impairment loss was recognized.

m. Intangible assets

Intangible assets, either acquired as a result of a business combination or developed internally, are

assets that can be identified, are controlled by the Company and provide future economic benefits to

the Company. Intangible assets are recognized at cost, and unless determined to have an indefinite life,

are amortized over their expected useful life.

Intangible assets are tested for impairment on an annual basis or more frequently if there are indicators

that the assets may be impaired. If any such indication exists, the recoverable amount of the asset is

estimated in order to determine the extent of the impairment loss (if any).  If the recoverable amount

of the asset is estimated to be less than the carrying amount, the carrying amount is reduced to its

recoverable amount.

The Company derecognizes the carrying amount of intangible assets on disposal or when no future

economic benefits are expected from its use.

Annual rates 

Brand Indefinite life 

Non-compete agreements Straight-line over term 
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PARK LAWN CORPORATION 
NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 
FOR THE YEARS ENDED DECEMBER 31, 2019 AND 2018 

2. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES - continued

n. Borrowing costs

Borrowing costs, if any, directly attributable to the acquisition or construction of a qualifying asset are

capitalized. Qualifying assets are those that necessarily take a substantial period of time to prepare for

their intended use. The capitalized borrowing cost is calculated by applying the weighted average

borrowing rate, giving consideration first to any project specific borrowings or any directly attributable

general borrowings, to the accumulated average costs for the period, until the assets are substantially

ready for their intended use. All other borrowing costs are recognized in finance costs in the

consolidated statements of earnings in the period in which they occur.

o. Taxation

Income tax expense represents the sum of the tax currently payable and deferred tax.  The tax currently

payable is based on taxable profit for the year. Taxable profit differs from profit as reported in the

consolidated statements of earnings because it excludes items of income or expense that are taxable or

deductible in other years and it further excludes items that are never taxable or deductible. The

Company’s liability for current tax is calculated using tax rates that have been enacted or substantively

enacted at the end of each reporting period.

Deferred tax is recognized on differences between the carrying amounts of assets and liabilities in the

consolidated financial statements and the corresponding tax base used in the computation of taxable

profit, and is accounted for using the asset and liability method. Deferred tax liabilities are generally

recognized for all taxable temporary differences, and deferred tax assets are generally recognized for

all deductible temporary differences to the extent that it is probable that taxable profits will be available

against which those deductible temporary differences can be utilized. Such assets and liabilities are not

recognized if the temporary difference arises from goodwill or from the initial recognition (other than

in a business combination) of other assets and liabilities in a transaction that affects neither the taxable

profit nor the accounting profit.

The carrying amount of deferred tax assets is reviewed at each reporting period and reduced to the

extent that it is no longer probable that sufficient taxable profits will be available to allow all or part of

the asset to be recovered.

Deferred tax assets and liabilities are measured at the tax rates that are expected to apply in the period

in which the liability is settled or the asset is realized, based on tax rates (and tax laws) that have been

enacted or substantively enacted at each reporting period. The measurement of deferred tax liabilities

and assets reflects the tax consequences that would follow from the manner in which the Company

expects, at the reporting date, to recover or settle the carrying amount of its assets and liabilities.
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PARK LAWN CORPORATION 
NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 
FOR THE YEARS ENDED DECEMBER 31, 2019 AND 2018 

2. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES - continued

o. Taxation – continued

Deferred tax assets and liabilities are offset when there is a legally enforceable right to set off current

tax assets against current tax liabilities and when they relate to income taxes levied by the same taxation

authority and the Company intends to settle its current tax assets and liabilities on a net basis.

Current and deferred tax are recognized as an expense or income in the consolidated statements of

earnings, except when they relate to items credited or debited directly to equity, in which case the tax

is also recognized directly in equity, or where they arise from the initial accounting for a business

combination.

p. Share based incentive compensation payments

Deferred share units (a “DSU”), performance share units (a “PSU) and restricted share units (a “RSU”)

are payments settled for shares or cash, as applicable, which are measured at fair value at the grant date.

For DSUs and RSUs, compensation cost is measured at the fair value of the underlying common share,

and is expensed over the award’s vesting period. Compensation expense is recognized in the

consolidated statements of earnings with a corresponding increase in contributed surplus. At this time,

the Board plans to settle DSUs and RSUs for shares and, upon the applicable settlement date, the

corresponding amounts previously credited to contributed surplus are transferred to share capital.

In addition, the Board plans to credit all DSUs and RSUs with dividend equivalents in the form of

additional DSUs and RSUs, as applicable. Dividend equivalents shall vest in proportion to, and settle

in the same manner as, the awards to which they relate. DSUs and RSUs that are dilutive as at the

reporting date are considered in the calculation of diluted earnings per share.

The Company has a performance stock option plan granted to senior executives, officers and

employees. Each tranche of an award is considered a separate award with its own vesting period and

grant date fair value. The fair value of each tranche is measured at the date of grant using the Black-

Scholes option pricing model. Compensation expense is recognized over each tranche’s vesting period,

based on the number of awards expected to vest, with the offset credited to contributed surplus. When

options are exercised, the amount received is credited to share capital and the fair value attributed to

these options is transferred from contributed surplus to share capital. The impact of a revision of the

original estimate is recognized in the consolidated statements of earnings such that the cumulative

expense reflects the revised estimate.
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PARK LAWN CORPORATION 
NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 
FOR THE YEARS ENDED DECEMBER 31, 2019 AND 2018 

2. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES - continued

q. Business combinations

The Company has applied the acquisition method in accounting for business combinations.

The Company measures goodwill as the difference between the fair value of the consideration

transferred, including the recognized amount of any non-controlling interest in the acquiree, and the

net recognized amount (generally fair value) of the identifiable assets acquired and liabilities assumed,

all measured as of the acquisition date.

Consideration transferred includes the fair value of the assets transferred (including cash), liabilities

incurred by the Company on behalf of the acquiree, and equity interests issued by the Company.

Consideration transferred also includes the fair value of any contingent consideration.

The contingent consideration is measured at its acquisition-date fair value and included as part of the

consideration transferred in a business combination. Contingent consideration that is classified as

equity is not remeasured at subsequent reporting dates and its subsequent settlement is accounted for

within equity. Contingent consideration that is classified as a liability is remeasured at subsequent

reporting dates in accordance with IFRS 9 – Financial Instruments, with the corresponding gain or

loss being recognized in the consolidated statements of earnings.

Transaction costs that the Company incurs in connection with a business combination, such as finders’

fees, legal fees, due diligence fees, and other professional and consulting fees, are expensed in the

period as incurred.

Accounting standards adopted on January 1, 2019 

r. IFRS 16 - Leases

IFRS 16 – Leases (“IFRS 16”) is effective for annual periods beginning on or after January 1, 2019.

The most significant change introduced by IFRS 16 is a single lessee accounting model, requiring

lessees to recognize assets and liabilities for leases on the statement of financial position.

The Company is a party to lease contracts for, among others: a) office space; b) machinery and

equipment. Leases are recognized, measured and presented in line with IFRS 16.

Accounting by the lessee

The Company implemented a single accounting model, requiring lessees to recognize assets and

liabilities for all leases excluding exceptions listed in the standard. The Company elected to apply

exemptions for short term leases and for leases for which the underlying asset is of low value. The

Company has also elected to apply the practical expedient to not separate non-lease components from

lease components, and instead account for each lease component and any associated non-lease

components as a single lease component.
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FOR THE YEARS ENDED DECEMBER 31, 2019 AND 2018 

2. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES - continued

r. IFRS – 16 Leases – continued

Accounting by the lessee – continued

At inception of a contract, the Company assesses whether a contract is, or contains, a lease based on

whether the contract conveys the right to control the use of an identified asset for a period of time in

exchange for consideration.

Based on the accounting policy applied, the Company recognizes a right-of-use asset and a lease liability

at the commencement date of the contract for all leases conveying the right to control the use of an

identified asset for a period of time. The commencement date is the date on which a lessor makes an

underlying asset available for use by a lessee.

The right-of-use assets are initially measured at cost, which comprises:

i) the amount of the initial measurement of the lease liability;

ii) any lease payments made at or before the commencement date, less any lease incentives; and

iii) any initial direct costs incurred by the lessee.

After the commencement date, the right-of-use assets are measured at cost less any accumulated 

depreciation and any accumulated impairment losses and adjusted for any re-measurement of the lease 

liability. Depreciation is calculated using the straight-line method over the estimated useful life or over 

the term of the respective lease. If the lease transfers ownership of the underlying asset to the Company 

by the end of the lease term or if the cost of the right-of-use asset reflects that the Company will 

exercise a purchase option, the Company depreciates the right-of-use asset from the commencement 

date to the end of the useful life of the underlying asset. 

The lease liability is initially measured at the present value of the lease payments that are not paid at 

that date, which comprises: 

i) fixed payments, less any lease incentives receivable;

ii) variable lease payments that depend on an index or a rate, initially measured using the index or rate

as at the commencement date;

iii) amounts expected to be payable by the lessee under residual value guarantees;

iv) the exercise price of a purchase option if the lessee is reasonably certain to exercise that option;

v) payments of penalties for terminating the lease, if the lease term reflects the lessee exercising an

option to terminate the lease.
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2. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES - continued

r. IFRS – 16 Leases – continued

Accounting by the lessee – continued

The lease payments are discounted using the interest rate implicit in the lease or, if that rate cannot be

readily determined, the Company’s incremental borrowing rate on the underlying asset. Generally, the

Company uses its incremental borrowing rate on the underlying asset as the discount rate. The lease

liability is subsequently measured at amortized cost using the effective interest method.

The lease term determined by the Company comprises:

i) non-cancellable period of lease contracts;

ii) periods covered by an option to extend the lease if the lessee is reasonably certain to exercise that

option; and

iii) periods covered by an option to terminate the lease if the lessee is reasonably certain not to exercise

that option.

Accounting by the lessor 

There are no contracts based on which the Company is acting as a lessor. 

Impact of transition to IFRS 16 

Effective January 1, 2019, the Company adopted IFRS 16 using the modified retrospective approach, 

with recognition of a right-of-use asset equal to the lease liability adjusted for prepaid or accrued lease 

payments immediately before the date of initial application.  

The weighted average incremental discount rate was 4.8%. In applying the modified retrospective 

approach, the Company has taken advantage of the following practical expedients:  

i) A single discount rate has been applied to portfolios of leases with reasonably similar characteristics;

ii) Leases with a remaining term of twelve months or less from the date of application have been

accounted for as short-term leases even though the initial term from lease commencement have been

more than twelve months; and

iii) For the purposes of measuring the right-of-use asset, hindsight has been used. Therefore, it has

been measured based on prevailing estimates at the date of initial application and not retrospectively

by making estimates and judgements based on circumstances on or after the lease commencement

date.
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2. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES - continued

r. IFRS – 16 Leases – continued

Impact of transition to IFRS 16 – continued

The aggregate lease liability recognized in the consolidated statement of financial position at January 1,

2019 can be reconciled as follows:

Operating lease commitments as at December 31, 2018 7,388,606$   

Effect of discounting those lease commitments (1,067,471)         

6,321,135$  

A corresponding right-of-use asset of $6,321,135 has been recognized in the consolidated statement 

of financial position as at January 1, 2019 and has been classified as property and equipment. 

s. Future accounting policy changes

The IASB has issued the following standards, amendments and interpretations which have not been

early adopted in these consolidated financial statements.

IFRS 3 – “Business Combinations (Amendment)”, the amendments clarify the definition of a business,

permitting a simplified assessment to determine whether a transaction should be accounted for as a

business combination or as an asset acquisition. The amendments are effective for transactions for

which the acquisition date is on or after the beginning of the first annual reporting period beginning

on or after January 1, 2020. Earlier application is permitted. These standards are not expected to have

material impact on the Company in the current or future reporting periods.

3. CRITICAL ESTIMATES AND JUDGEMENTS

Use of estimates

The preparation of these consolidated financial statements requires management to make certain estimates,

judgements and assumptions that affect the reported amounts of assets and liabilities at the date of the

consolidated financial statements and the reported expenses during the period. Actual results could differ

from these estimates. Significant assumptions about the future and other sources of estimation uncertainty

that management has made at the end of the reporting period, that could result in a material adjustment to

the carrying amounts of assets, liabilities, and equity in the event that actual results differ from assumptions

made, relate to, but are not limited to, the following:
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3. CRITICAL ESTIMATES AND JUDGEMENTS - continued

Use of estimates - continued

i) The Company determined its cash generating units (“CGUs”) for the purpose of goodwill

impairment testing as at December 31, 2019. These CGUs consisted of Northeast, Southeast,

Central, Midwest, Southwest, West and Other. The Company’s impairment tests for goodwill and

intangible assets are based on the greater of value in use calculations that use a discounted cash

flow model and estimated fair value less cost to sell. In assessing value in use, the estimated future

cash flows are discounted to their present value using a pre-tax discount rate that reflects current

market assessments of the time value of money and the risks specific to the asset or CGU, using

an appropriate valuation model. These calculations are corroborated by calculation multiples or

other available fair value indicators. The recoverable amount is most sensitive to the discount rate

used for the discounted cash flow model as well as the expected future cash inflows and the growth

rate used for extrapolation purposes. Using a five year (and related terminal value) discounted cash

flow model, the Company determines the recoverable amount by calculating the value in use. The

Company used a one year budgeted cash flow approved by the board, which had revenue growth

rates between 0% and 7%. The cash flow forecasts were extrapolated beyond the one year period

using an estimated long-term growth rate of 2%, terminal growth rates of 2% and post-tax discount

rates between 6.2% and 8.6%. The Company has determined that the discount rates reasonably

reflect the risks associated with the cash flow projections for the CGUs. The Company allocates

the carrying value of goodwill and intangibles acquired from acquisitions to CGUs and uses

estimates to test for any potential impairment. The Company’s impairment tests for goodwill and

intangible assets are based on the greater of value in use calculations that use a discounted cash

flow model over a five-year period and estimated fair value less cost to sell. An increase of 100

basis points in the pre-tax discount rate would not result in an impairment charge.

ii) In a business combination, substantially all identifiable assets, liabilities and contingent liabilities

acquired are recorded at the date of acquisition at their respective fair values. One of the most

significant areas of judgement and estimation relates to the determination of the fair value of these

assets and liabilities, including the fair value of contingent consideration, if applicable. If any

intangible assets are identified, depending on the type of intangible asset and the complexity of

determining its fair value, an independent external valuation expert may develop the fair value,

using appropriate valuation techniques, which are generally based on a forecast of the total

expected future net cash flows. These valuations are linked closely to the assumptions made by

management regarding the future performance of the assets concerned and any changes in the

discount rate applied. In certain circumstances where estimates have been made, the Company

may obtain third-party valuations of certain assets, which could result in further refinement of the

fair-value allocation of certain purchase prices and accounting adjustments.

iii) In determining an allowance for sales returns, the Company provides various allowances and/or

cancellation reserves for cemetery receivables. These allowances are based on the analysis of

historical trends and include, where applicable, collection and cancellation activity.

25



PARK LAWN CORPORATION 
NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 
FOR THE YEARS ENDED DECEMBER 31, 2019 AND 2018 

3. CRITICAL ESTIMATES AND JUDGEMENTS - continued

Use of estimates - continued

iv) In calculating the share-based compensation expense, key estimates such as the rate of forfeiture

of options granted, probability of achieving performance conditions, the expected life of the

option, the volatility of the Company’s stock price and the risk-free interest rate are used.

v) In calculating income tax expense, the Company makes significant judgements in interpreting tax

rules and regulations. Judgements are made to evaluate whether or not we can recover a deferred

tax asset based on our assessment of existing tax laws, estimates of future profitability, and tax

planning strategies.

4. PRE-NEED RECEIVABLES

December 31, December 31,

2019 2018

Pre-need receivables, current portion 29,044,341$        26,204,444$        

Pre-need receivables, net of current portion 58,015,914          57,917,186          

Total 87,060,255$        84,121,630$        

The above is net of an allowance for sales returns of $7,497,819 at December 31, 2019 (at December 31, 

2018 - $6,772,773).  

5. INVENTORIES
December 31, December 31,

2019 2018

(Restated, 

Measurement Period 

Adjustment - see 

Note 6)

Merchandise inventories 3,068,697$  2,850,452$  

Cemetery lots 38,909,330 36,716,144 

Crypts and niches 42,816,411 42,067,841 

Construction in progress 7,974,511 4,879,737 

Total 92,768,949 86,514,174 

Current portion 9,459,240 9,988,909 

Non-current portion 83,309,709$       76,525,265$       

There were no inventory write-downs in either year. 
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5. INVENTORIES – continued

Inventory expensed through cost of sales during the year was as follows:

December 31, December 31,

2019 2018

Merchandise 23,281,796$        15,248,386$        

Cemetery lots, crypts and niches (cost of property) 7,647,209 6,226,705 

Total 30,929,005$        21,475,091$        

6. BUSINESS COMBINATIONS

Acquisitions completed in fiscal 2019

The following table summarizes the statement of financial position impact on the acquisition date of the

Company’s business combinations that occurred in the year ended December 31, 2019:

Final Final Preliminary Preliminary

Cress Baue Horan Other Total

(i) (ii) (iii) (iv)

Assets acquired:

Cash 458,410$   665,001$   1,267,187$   -$  2,390,598$   

Accounts receivable 1,620,494          1,686,989         712,764 - 4,020,247

Pre-need receivables - 1,676,528 543,627 1,180,672      3,400,827

Inventories 167,030 3,498,082         278,221 2,340,772      6,284,105

Prepaid expenses and other current assets 245,749 6,829 101,527 416,508         770,613

Land held for development - 5,765,160 - 2,032,753 7,797,913

Property and equipment 13,882,443        13,990,689 29,099,502       9,333,990 66,306,624

Care and maintenance trust fund investments - 4,593,840 1,154,349         4,659,366 10,407,555

Pre-need merchandise and service trust fund 

investments - 37,777,961 39,775,432       5,406,938 82,960,331

Deferred commissions - 2,829,204 2,274,823         - 5,104,027

Deferred tax assets - - - - - 

Goodwill 8,734,881          36,094,938       43,573,345       3,873,502      92,276,666

Intangibles 3,470,287          6,798,309         8,646,113         1,120,624      20,035,333

Total assets 28,579,294$   115,383,530$   127,426,890$   30,365,125$  301,754,839$   

Liabilities assumed:

Accounts payable and accrued liabilities 451,444$   2,868,860$   1,699,300$   362,892$   5,382,496$   

Long-term debt - 78,200 - - 78,200

Lease liabilities 111,904 157,108 257,828 - 526,840

Deferred tax liabilities 810,304 1,321,284         - - 2,131,588

Care and maintenance trusts' corpus - 4,593,840 1,154,349         4,659,366      10,407,555

Deferred pre-need receipts held in trust - 37,777,961 39,775,432       5,406,938      82,960,331

Deferred revenue - 10,056,363 9,371,914         - 19,428,277

1,373,652          56,853,616       52,258,823       10,429,196    120,915,287     

Fair value of consideration transferred:

Cash consideration 24,674,045        59,435,125       75,516,118       19,067,519    178,692,807

Deferred cash consideration 2,149,699          1,016,985         508,558 868,410         4,543,652

Working capital adjustment 381,898 (1,922,196)        (856,609) - (2,396,907) 

27,205,642        58,529,914       75,168,067       19,935,929    180,839,552     

Total liabilites and considerations 28,579,294$   115,383,530$   127,426,890$   30,365,125$  301,754,839$   
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6. BUSINESS COMBINATIONS – continued

Acquisitions completed in fiscal 2019 – continued

i) On April 1, 2019, the Company completed the acquisition of all the outstanding equity of Cress Funeral

Service Inc. (“Cress”) for a purchase price of approximately $27.2 million (US$20.4 million), subject

to customary working capital adjustments. Cress’s acquisition expands PLC’s footprint into Wisconsin

by adding eight funeral homes and two crematoria to PLC’s portfolio. The acquisition was funded

from PLC’s credit facility.

Since the date of acquisition in 2019, Cress has contributed approximately $7.0 million in revenue and

$1.3 million in net earnings in 2019. The Company has used a significant amount of judgement and

simplifying assumptions in estimating the revenue and net earnings of Cress as if the business occurred

at the beginning of the year. If acquired at the beginning of the year, the Company has estimated that

Cress would have contributed approximately $9.4 million in revenue and $1.8 million in net earnings.

Cress’s purchase price allocation was finalized in the fourth quarter of 2019 to reflect the final

determination of the fair value of assets and liabilities acquired.

ii) On June 3, 2019, the Company completed the acquisition of all the outstanding stock and membership

interests of The Baue Funeral Home Co. (“Baue”), for an aggregate total purchase price of

approximately $58.5 million (US$43.5 million) in cash, subject to customary working capital

adjustments. Baue operates a large cemetery and three funeral homes (including one on-site), in St.

Charles, Missouri. Baue’s acquisition significantly increases PLC’s footprint and presence in Missouri.

The acquisition of Baue was funded with the proceeds from the Company’s recent equity financing.

Since the date of acquisition in 2019, Baue has contributed approximately $10.3 million in revenue and

$0.9 million in net earnings in 2019. The Company has used a significant amount of judgement and

simplifying assumptions in estimating the revenue and net earnings of Baue as if the business occurred

at the beginning of the year. If acquired at the beginning of the year, the Company has estimated that

Baue would have contributed approximately $17.6 million in revenue and $1.6 million in net earnings.

Baue’s purchase price allocation was finalized in the fourth quarter of 2019 to reflect the final

determination of the fair value of assets and liabilities acquired.

iii) On July 1, 2019, the Company completed the acquisition of all the outstanding equity of Horan &

McConaty Funeral Services, Inc. (“Horan”) for an aggregate total purchase price of approximately

$75.2 million (US$57.2 million) in cash, subject to customary working capital adjustments. Horan

operates two cemeteries and 11 funeral homes (including two on-sites) in Denver and Aurora,

Colorado. Horan’s acquisition expands U.S. footprint with first acquisition in Colorado. The

acquisition of Horan was funded with the remaining proceeds from the Company’s recent equity

financing and the Company’s credit facility.
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6. BUSINESS COMBINATIONS – continued

Since the date of acquisition in 2019, Horan has contributed approximately $13.2 million in revenue 

and $1.3 million in net earnings in 2019. The Company has used a significant amount of judgement 

and simplifying assumptions in estimating the revenue and net earnings of Horan as if the business 

occurred at the beginning of the year. If acquired at the beginning of the year, the Company has 

estimated that Horan would have contributed approximately $26.3 million in revenue and $2.6 million 

in net earnings. 

The fair value allocations for Horan’s acquisition are based on preliminary purchase allocations 

conducted by management. As the acquisition is within the measurement period under IFRS 10, it 

continues to be refined. The Company is gathering information to finalize the fair value of deferred 

revenue and inventories. 

iv) On November 18, 2019, the Company completed the acquisition of all the assets of two U.S.

businesses, Journey Group Texas One, LLC and Journey Group Texas Two, LLC (“Journey Group”)

for an aggregate total purchase price of approximately $12.5 million (US$9.5 million) in cash, subject

to customary working capital adjustments. Journey operates three cemeteries, three funeral homes and

two combination funeral home and cemetery properties in Texas. Journey’s acquisition increases PLC’s

U.S. footprint and presence in Texas. The acquisition of Journey was funded with the Company’s credit

facility.

The fair value allocations for Journey Group’s acquisition are based on preliminary purchase allocations

conducted by management. As the acquisition is within the measurement period under IFRS 10, it

continues to be refined. The Company is gathering information to finalize the fair value of the property

and equipment, land held for development and inventories.

On May 1, 2019, the Company completed the acquisition of all the assets of John L. Ziegenhein &

Sons Undertaking Inc. (“Ziegenhein Funeral Homes”), a two-location funeral business in St. Louis,

Missouri for a purchase price of approximately $6.1 million (US$4.5 million). The acquisition of

Ziegenhein Funeral Homes further expands PLC’s existing footprint in the Missouri market. The

acquisition was funded with proceeds from the Company’s recent equity financing.

On June 25, 2019, the Company completed the acquisition of all the assets of Integrity Funeral Care,

Inc. (“Integrity”), a funeral business located in Houston, Texas for a purchase price of approximately

$1.3 million (US$1 million). The acquisition of Integrity expands PLC’s existing footprint in the

Houston market. The acquisition was funded from PLC’s credit facility.

Purchase price allocation for the above acquisitions was finalized in the fourth quarter of 2019.
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6. BUSINESS COMBINATIONS – continued

Acquisitions completed in fiscal 2018

The purchase price allocation for Signature was finalized during the period ended March 31, 2019, and 

the purchase price allocation for Citadel has been finalized during the period ended September 30, 

2019. All net assets acquired, and consideration paid have been included at their respective fair values. 

The Company has restated the comparative figures in the consolidated statement of financial position 

based on the measurement period adjustments. The following tables summarize the effects of the 

change described above on the line items of the consolidated statement of financial position for the 

year ended December 31, 2018. 

December 31, December 31,

2018 2018

As previously stated Adjustments As restated

Inventories, net of current portion 71,102,414$   5,422,851$   76,525,265$   

Land held for development 28,023,925          (13,229,995)        14,793,930         

Property and equipment 125,203,549        1,191,820           126,395,369        

Deferred commissions 24,663,902          (1,686,683)          22,977,219         

Goodwill and Intangibles 281,833,941        3,148,669           284,982,610        

Deferred revenue (143,767,739)       5,153,338           (138,614,401)       

Total 387,059,992$  -$  387,059,992$      
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Acquisitions completed in fiscal 2018 – continued

The following table summarizes the statement of financial position impact on the acquisition date of the

Company’s business combinations that occurred in the year ended December 31, 2018:

Final Final Final Final

CMS Signature Citadel Other Total

(i) (ii) (iii) (iv)

Assets acquired:

Cash 1,471,869$    5,203,463$    619,214$      112,131$   7,406,677$   

Accounts receivable 343,184             2,240,375          1,039,719     361,662        3,984,940

Pre-need receivables 12,695,556        9,439,211          3,460,379     - 25,595,146

Inventories 25,058,801        8,825,044          9,488,587     280,841        43,653,273

Prepaid expenses and other current assets 354,364             503,162             120,522        35,596          1,013,644

Land held for development - 6,447,166 429,655        - 6,876,821

Property and equipment 7,764,123          45,492,637        13,075,640   8,647,763     74,980,163

Care and maintenance trust fund investments 58,558,937        13,878,211        11,286,831   - 83,723,979

Pre-need merchandise and service trust fund investments 4,607,433          39,677,089        5,282,755     3,041,186     52,608,463

Deferred commissions 1,238,900          1,286,202          2,438,281     - 4,963,383

Deferred tax assets 596,700             273,556             128,220        18,592          1,017,068

Goodwill 33,592,882        107,091,898      29,759,147   8,963,790     179,407,717

Intangibles - 5,492,305 660,590        573,940        6,726,835

Total assets 146,282,749$    245,850,319$    77,789,540$ 22,035,501$ 491,958,109$   

Liabilities assumed:

Accounts payable and accrued liabilities 1,442,552$    4,826,293$    1,848,032$   368,182$   8,485,059$   

Long-term debt - - 303,061        72,739          375,800

Notes payable 1,287,684          2,394,811          - - 3,682,495

Deferred tax liabilities 1,035,932          - - 145,313        1,181,245

Care and maintenance trusts' corpus 58,558,937        13,878,211        11,286,831   - 83,723,979

Deferred pre-need receipts held in trust 4,607,433          39,677,089        5,282,755     3,041,186     52,608,463

Deferred revenue 14,595,911        23,324,363        38,712,711   - 76,632,985

81,528,449        84,100,767        57,433,390   3,627,420     226,690,026     

Fair value of consideration transferred:

Cash consideration 64,339,300        158,760,138      19,508,817   18,391,714   260,999,969

Deferred cash consideration - - 847,333        - 847,333

Working capital adjustment 415,000             2,989,414          - 16,367 3,420,781

64,754,300        161,749,552      20,356,150   18,408,081   265,268,083     

Total liabilites and considerations 146,282,749$    245,850,319$    77,789,540$ 22,035,501$ 491,958,109$   
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6. BUSINESS COMBINATIONS – continued

Acquisitions completed in fiscal 2018 – continued

(i) CMS

On March 7, 2018, the Company completed the acquisition of 100% ownership interest in the common 

shares of CMS Mid-Atlantic, Inc. (“CMS”) for a purchase price of approximately $65 million (US$50 

million). The purchase price was funded from PLC’s credit facility. CMS currently operates, manages and 

provides financial services for six cemeteries in New Jersey and one in New York. The acquisition of CMS 

increases the scale and expands the geographic diversification in the U.S. market.   

During the third quarter of 2018, the Company completed the purchase of 78 acres of land in Lafayette, 

New Jersey for US$3 million. This property will be used to expand an existing cemetery.  

(ii) Signature

On May 7, 2018, the Company completed the acquisition of a 100% ownership interest in the common 

shares of Signature Funeral and Cemetery Investments, LLC. (“Signature”) for a purchase price of 

approximately $158.8 million (US$123 million), plus a working capital adjustment of approximately $3 

million (US$2.5 million). The purchase price was funded using the proceeds from the Company’s bought 

deal offering of subscription receipts which closed on May 4, 2018. 

Signature’s acquisition adds four new states, Kansas, Missouri, New Mexico and Mississippi into PLC’s 

portfolio, while expanding its footprint in the Texas market. The acquisition adds nine cemeteries, 21 

funeral homes (including seven located on cemetery sites) and five crematoria to PLC’s portfolio. The 

acquisition of Signature increased the scale and geographic diversification in the U.S. market.  

Signature’s purchase price allocation was finalized in the first quarter of 2019 to reflect the final 

determination of the fair value of assets and liabilities acquired.  

(iii) Citadel

On November 1, 2018, the Company completed the acquisition of 100% ownership interest in the 

common shares of Citadel Management LLC (“Citadel”) for a purchase price of approximately $20.4 

million (US$15.5 million). The purchase price was funded from PLC’s credit facility. 

The acquisition of Citadel expands the Company’s operations in North Carolina and marks its entry in to 

the South Carolina market. The acquisition fits well with the Company’s existing portfolio and provides 

opportunity for growth in these markets. It adds 29 cemeteries and eight funeral homes (including one on-

site) in North and South Carolina to the Company’s portfolio.  

Citadel’s purchase price allocation was finalized in the third quarter of 2019 to reflect the final 

determination of the fair value of assets and liabilities acquired.  
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6. BUSINESS COMBINATIONS – continued

Acquisitions completed in fiscal 2018 – continued

(iv) Other acquisitions

During 2018, the Company also completed the following acquisitions: Billingsley Funeral Home 

(“Billingsley”), Opatovsky Funeral Home (“Opatovsky”), Hansons Arbor Funeral Chapels & Crematorium 

(“Hansons”), Wayne Boze Funeral Home and Gateway Memorial Park (“Wayne Boze”), and Wells Funeral 

Homes and Cremation Services (“Wells”). Billingsley’s and Opatovsky’s purchase price allocation was 

finalized in the first quarter of 2019, Hansons’ in the second quarter of 2019, and Wayne Boze and Wells 

in the third quarter of 2019. Billingsley and Opatovsky further expand the company’s presence in the 

Ontario market and their proximity to the existing operations in the GTA make these businesses a strategic 

fit to the existing portfolio of assets in Ontario. Hansons’ acquisition continues PLC’s successful expansion 

into the BC market and Wayne Boze and Wells fit with PLC’s portfolio in the U.S. and are in line with 

PLC’s growth strategy.  

7. LAND HELD FOR DEVELOPMENT

Land held for development represents land held for future cemetery, funeral and other development

opportunities. At December 31, 2019 land held for development was valued at $22,138,968 (at December

31, 2018 - $14,793,930).
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8. PROPERTY AND EQUIPMENT

2019

(Restated, 

Measurement Period 

Adjustment - see 

Note 6)

Acquired in 

business 

combinations Additions Disposals

Foreign 

currency 

translation

December 31, 

2019

Cost:
Land  $   31,099,513 24,311,069     145,513       (1,367,479)    (1,586,741)    52,601,875$  
Buildings, cemetery and 
funeral 83,152,117 36,797,799     7,804,831     (2,145,248)    (4,822,692)    120,786,807
Machinery, equipment 
and automotive 15,931,295 4,354,924      4,610,747     (818,520)      (1,939,358)    22,139,088
Cemetery improvements 9,611,192 319,207         1,441,258     - (112,683) 11,258,974
Right-of-use asset 6,321,135 523,625         1,356,343     2,488 (109,370) 8,094,221

Total 146,115,252 66,306,624     15,358,692   (4,328,759)    (8,570,844)    214,880,965        

Accumulated depreciation:
Buildings, cemetery and 
funeral 5,498,477 - 4,250,969 (818,968)      (939,094)      7,991,384
Machinery, equipment
and automotive 5,239,993 - 3,497,243 (640,564)      (986,525)      7,110,147
Cemetery improvements 2,660,278 - 1,128,674 - (335,642) 3,453,310
Right-of-use asset -   - 1,770,767 (14,191)        (15,621) 1,740,955

Total 13,398,748 - 10,647,653 (1,473,723)    (2,276,882)    20,295,796          

Net Book Value  $   132,716,504 194,585,169$    
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8. PROPERTY AND EQUIPMENT – continued

December 31, 

2018

January 1, 2018

Acquired in 

business 

combinations Additions Disposals

Foreign 

currency 

translation

(Restated, 

Measurement Period 

Adjustment - see 

Note 6)

Cost:
Land 11,394,808$  17,215,049     1,030,380     (1,631)          1,460,907     31,099,513$  
Buildings, cemetery and 
funeral 25,589,142          48,631,928     4,456,652     - 4,474,395 83,152,117          
Machinery, equipment 
and automotive 6,563,882 6,099,547       2,222,947     (211,075)      1,255,994 15,931,295          
Cemetery improvements 5,476,743 2,982,790       510,656       - 641,003 9,611,192 

Total 49,024,575 74,929,314     8,220,635     (212,706)      7,832,299     139,794,117        

Accumulated depreciation:
Buildings, cemetery and 
funeral 2,339,721 - 2,217,636 - 941,120 5,498,477 
Machinery, equipment
and automotive 2,355,020 - 2,244,095 (159,223)      800,101 5,239,993 
Cemetery improvements 1,370,602 - 901,052 - 388,624 2,660,278 

Total 6,065,343 - 5,362,783 (159,223)      2,129,845     13,398,748          

Net Book Value  $   42,959,232 126,395,369$    

Property and equipment depreciation expense charged to operations amounted to $10,647,653 and 

$5,362,783 for the year ended December 31, 2019 and 2018, respectively. 

Included in additions at December 31, 2019 are $5,653,153 of additions at Canadian cemeteries and funeral 

sites (at December 31, 2018 - $3,692,898) and $9,705,539 of additions at U.S. cemeteries (at December 31, 

2018 - $4,527,737).  

During the year ended December 31, 2019, the Company sold redundant real estate and property for a sale 

price of approximately $2,800,000 realizing a net gain of approximately $50,000 and settled an insurance 

claim that resulted in a gain of approximately $66,000.  

The gains and losses described above on the sale of property and equipment are included in other income 

(expenses) in the consolidated statements of earnings.  

Management has reviewed the valuation of the property and equipment and has not identified any 

indicators of impairment in the value of the property and equipment. 

35



PARK LAWN CORPORATION 
NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 
FOR THE YEARS ENDED DECEMBER 31, 2019 AND 2018 

9. CARE AND MAINTENANCE TRUST FUND INVESTMENTS

The Company’s care and maintenance trust funds were established, as required by provincial and state

regulations, to receive principal contributions from the Company upon the sale of cemetery lots,

mausoleum crypts and niches.

Pursuant to the requirements of provincial and state regulations, the Company is required to deposit a

portion of the proceeds received in respect of pre-need contracts into trust.  Such amounts are treated as

a cost of sale at the time of the sale.

The principal of these trusts is recorded in the consolidated statements of financial position and represents

these contributions to the trusts and capital gains and losses and must be held in perpetuity in these trusts.

Only the income, not the capital gains, may be paid to the Company to be used exclusively for eligible care

and maintenance of the cemeteries and crematoriums as defined by provincial and state regulations.

Investment income recognized in operations amounted to $10,827,579 and $8,769,883 for the year ended

December 31, 2019 and 2018, respectively. If the income earned by the trusts should exceed eligible care

and maintenance expenses incurred by the Company, the excess would be added to the capital of the trusts

and would not be eligible for pay out to the Company in the future.

Care and maintenance trust fund investments consist of the following:

December 31, December 31, December 31, December 31,

2019 2018 2019 2018

Cash and cash equivalents  $   10,306,689  $   8,378,916  $   10,302,565  $   8,347,173 

Equities 99,989,034 89,174,511 89,206,429 87,964,536

Fixed income 81,807,889 69,972,381 79,843,248 71,426,289

Alternative investments 22,378,232 16,772,362 21,077,471 16,143,442

Preferred stocks 10,013,142 11,629,086 9,962,062 12,288,336

224,494,986$    195,927,256$    210,391,775$    196,169,776$    

Fair Value Cost

The fixed income component of these care and maintenance trust funds is generally invested in medium-

term government, promissory notes and corporate bonds which are held to maturity and earn income at 

fixed rates of return. The alternative investments component of these care and maintenance trust funds is 

invested in limited partnership units, private mortgages and other debt investments. 

The increase in care and maintenance trust fund investments is a result of an appreciation in fair value of 

capital markets since December 31, 2018, contributions to the trust funds and recent acquisitions. 
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10. PRE-NEED MERCHANDISE AND SERVICE TRUST FUND INVESTMENTS

Pre-need merchandise and service trust funds were established as required by provincial and state

regulations to hold funds paid in advance of need, to purchase when required at-need supplies and services

such as funeral services, merchandise, grave and crypt openings.

When the services are performed, the Company withdraws the money held in the trust funds to pay for

the supplies and services. In certain jurisdictions, any surplus income earned is refunded to the customers

and any deficiency of funds is absorbed by the Company by recording less revenue for supplies and services.

Pre-need merchandise and service trust fund investments consist of the following:

December 31, December 31, December 31, December 31,

2019 2018 2019 2018

Cash and cash equivalents 28,692,429$    12,509,568$    28,658,480$    12,498,274$    

GIC's 29,753,510 31,783,609 29,753,510 31,783,609 

Equities 80,151,449          47,915,566          68,352,424          46,317,623          

Fixed income 79,229,148 49,215,235 77,875,056 49,856,323 

Alternative investments 36,954,092 16,173,334 34,798,443 16,173,334 

Preferred stocks 2,369,757 - 2,376,524 - 

257,150,385$    157,597,312$    241,814,437$    156,629,163$    

Fair value Cost

The fixed income component of these pre-need merchandise and service trust funds is generally invested 

in medium-term government, promissory notes and corporate bonds and deposit investment certificates 

which are held-to-maturity and earn income at fixed rates of return.  

The increase in pre-need merchandise and service trust funds is a result of an appreciation in fair value of 

capital markets since December 31, 2018 and recent acquisitions. 

11. PREARRANGED FUNERAL INSURANCE CONTRACTS

In addition to trust funded prearranged funeral services contracts, the Company also has prearranged

funeral services contracts which are funded by insurance. As of December 31, 2019, the current face

amount of pre-funded policies was approximately $288 million (at December 31, 2018 – approximately

$176 million). The increase in prearranged funeral insurance contracts is primarily a result of recent

acquisitions. Families who have prearranged with the Company will receive a refund to the extent that the

face amount of the policy exceeds the current retail value of the merchandise and services to be provided.

The insurance funded contracts are not included in the consolidated financial statements as the Company

is not the beneficiary of the policy. Amounts funded through insurance are available to the Company when

the funeral services are performed.
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12. GOODWILL AND INTANGIBLES

The changes in the carrying amount of goodwill and intangible assets at December 31, 2019 were:

December 31, 2018

December 31, 2019

(Restated, Measurement 

Period Adjustment - see 

Note 6)

Goodwill

Opening balance: 277,981,729$    85,729,285$    

Additions 92,276,666 179,799,671
Adjustment - (1,266,849) 
Foreign currency translation (14,256,412) 13,719,622 

Closing balance: 356,001,983$    277,981,729$    

Intangibles

Non-compete agreements
Opening balance: 7,000,881$    233,333$    

Additions 4,536,449 6,688,661 
Amortization (2,811,894) (311,074) 
Foreign currency translation (634,981) 389,961 

Closing balance: 8,090,455$    7,000,881$    

Brand
Opening balance: -$   -$   

Additions 15,498,884 - 
Foreign currency translation (337,992) - 

Closing balance: 15,160,892$   -$    

Intangibles 23,251,347$    7,000,881$    

Goodwill and Intangibles 379,253,330$    284,982,610$    

As part of the annual recoverability testing process in 2018, the Company recognized a goodwill impairment 

charge of $1,266,849. A 5% change in the pre-tax discount rate would reduce the recoverable value by 

approximately $1.6 million.  The impairment charge was related to MMG not meeting its EBITDA earnout 

target for the contingent consideration in 2018. As a result of not meeting the earnout target there was an 

offsetting gain on the fair value of contingent consideration of $1,156,139 resulting in a net expense of 

$110,710 as described in Note 19.     

The increase in goodwill is primarily a result of recent acquisitions. 
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13. OTHER ASSETS

Included in prepaid expenses and other current assets is a $6.5 million including accrued interest (at

December 31, 2018 - $ nil) promissory note to Serenity Valley Mausoleum Inc. (“Serenity Mausoleum”)

and Serenity Valley P. Lawn Management Inc. (“Serenity Management”) which is measured at amortized

cost. The promissory note has a maturity date and is payable in the fourth quarter of 2020. The note bears

interest at 9%.

Included in other assets is a $2.7 million including accrued interest (at December 31, 2018 - $3.1 million)

employee share loan plan as described in Note 29.

In addition, included in other assets is a $6.3 million including accrued interest (at December 31, 2018 -

$6.2 million) secured debt investment in Humphrey Funeral Home A. W. Miles – Newbigging Chapel

Limited (“Humphrey”) which is measured at fair value. The debenture bears interest at 5% and is

convertible into equity of Humphrey on maturity at the option of the Company. The debenture is due on

demand after a period of five years. The fair value of the secured debt investment approximates the book

value.

In addition, included in other assets is a $26.5 million (US$20.4 million) (at December 31, 2018 - $nil)

promissory note to WG – TN, LLC (“WG-TN”) and Harpeth Hills Memory Gardens Inc. (“HHMG”)

which is measured at fair value. The promissory note had a maturity date of March 31, 2020 and bore

interest at 10%. The note along with its associated interest are exchangeable as consideration for 100% of

the Equity Interest in WG-TN and HHMG by the borrower. The fair value of the secured debt investment

approximates the book value.

Subsequent to December 31, 2019, the promissory note described above was converted to equity interest

in WG-TN and HHMG.

14. ACCOUNTS PAYABLE AND ACCRUED LIABILITIES

December 31, December 31,

2019 2018

Trade payables and accrued liabilities 30,461,301$        20,387,323$        
Income taxes payable 882,764 108,231 

31,344,065$        20,495,554$        

The average credit period on trade payables is 30 to 60 days in 2019 and 2018. 
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15. LONG-TERM DEBT
December 31, December 31,

2019 2018

Revolving loan facility 173,694,846$  90,300,000$    

Mortgages 1,103,419       1,183,154       

Other debt 928,231 676,428 

Deferred financing costs (1,840,106)      (814,980)         

Total 173,886,390   91,344,602     

Current portion 421,074          298,826          

Non-current portion 173,465,316$  91,045,776$    

Revolving loan facility 

On November 22, 2019, the Company amended its existing syndicated bank financing arrangement to 

increase its borrowing capacity to $300 million ($250 million committed credit facility and additional $50 

million accordion facility). The financing arrangement has a term of five years. The revolving facility bears 

variable interest at the banker’s acceptance rate plus an applicable margin based on a leverage ratio 

calculation. The additional credit will provide the Company with further flexibility as it continues to pursue 

its growth strategy. In particular, the revolving credit facility is expected to support the Company’s ability 

to capitalize on organic projects and acquisition opportunities as they arise while maintaining a prudent 

approach to leverage. 

At December 31, 2019, there was $173,694,846 outstanding under the credit facility (at December 31, 2018 

- $90,300,000). Deferred financing costs have been capitalized and are being amortized over the term of 5

years using the effective interest rate method. At December 31, 2019, deferred financing costs were

$1,840,106 (at December 31, 2018 - $814,980). At December 31, 2019, standby letters of credit issued

utilized $764,023 of the credit line (at December 31, 2018 - $20,000).

Other debt 

Other debt relates to automotive equipment and is secured by the vehicles. These have interest rates ranging 

from 3.0% to 9.0% and remaining terms of 2 to 5 years. 

Debt covenants 

The Company has provided covenants to certain of its lenders. The Company was in compliance with all 

of its covenants in 2019 and 2018. 
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15. LONG-TERM DEBT – continued

Summary of principal repayments by year 

2020 2021 2022 2023 2024 Thereafter Total

Revolving loan facility -$       -$  -$  -$  -$  173,694,846$ 173,694,846$  

Mortgages 82,310         85,566        88,831         92,220         95,659       658,833         1,103,419       

Other debt 338,764       260,648       218,098       57,939         37,137       15,645           928,231          

421,074       346,214       306,929       150,159       132,796     174,369,324   175,726,496    

Deferred financing costs - - - - - (1,840,106) (1,840,106)      

Total 421,074$     346,214$     306,929$     150,159$      132,796$    172,529,218$ 173,886,390$  

16. NOTES PAYABLE

December 31, December 31,

2019 2018

Notes payable 8,691,322$    4,704,415$    

Current portion 1,323,036 426,604 

Non-current portion 7,368,286$    4,277,811$    

Notes payable 

i) The Company has an outstanding note payable of $1,772,984 (at December 31, 2018 - $1,760,241)

to the former owner of a cemetery. The note calls for yearly payments of $50,000 at 0% interest

until the note matures in 2113. Payments of principal and interest are allowed to be deferred until

the cemetery achieves positive cash flow. The note was discounted upon recognition to reflect an

imputed interest rate of 5%. The note is nonrecourse and can be cancelled by either party.

ii) The Company has outstanding notes payable of $6,918,338 (at December 31, 2018 - $2,944,174)

to former owners of previously acquired businesses. These notes payable have interest rates

ranging from 2% to 6% and remaining terms of 4 to 10 years.
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17. LEASE LIABILITIES

Lease liabilities relate to office space, machinery and equipment.

December 31,

2019

Future minimum lease payments

Due in less than one year 2,073,330$   

Due between one and two years 1,750,960 

Due between two and three years 931,289 

Due thereafter 2,750,802 

Interest (992,651) 

Present value of minimum lease payments 6,513,730 

Current portion 1,831,687 

Non-current portion 4,682,043$   

Lease liabilities interest expense charged to operations amounted to $338,462 and $nil for the year ended 

December 31, 2019 and 2018, respectively. 

18. DEFERRED REVENUE

Deferred revenue represents the amount of unperformed pre-arranged cemetery and funeral contracts. The
components of deferred revenue consist of the following:

December 31,

2018

December 31, 

2019

(Restated, Measurement 

Period Adjustment - see 

Note 6)

Cemetery and funeral merchandise, lots, crypts, and niches 85,744,243$         89,740,143$  

Cemetery and funeral services 64,510,600           48,874,258 

Total 150,254,843$       138,614,401$            

42



PARK LAWN CORPORATION 
NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 
FOR THE YEARS ENDED DECEMBER 31, 2019 AND 2018 

19. CONTINGENT PAYMENT

MMG

Effective March 1, 2016, the Company completed the acquisition of 100% ownership interest in the

common shares of Midwest Memorial Group, LLC (“MMG”). On closing, the Company paid $22,537,598

(US$16,657,500) for 100% of the common shares.

The Company was required to make additional payments to the extent that earnings before interest, taxes,

depreciation and amortization (“EBITDA”) during calendar years 2016, 2017, and 2018 (“the Earn-out

Periods”) equaled or exceeded pre-established targets. The key assumptions used in the calculation was a

three year EBITDA projection which management believes the discount rate reasonably reflected the risks

associated with projections for the business. There were no contingent payments made for the first, second,

or third earn-out period in 2016, 2017 and 2018, and the remaining contingent payment liability was written

off at December 31, 2018.

The fair value of the liability in connection with the contingent consideration was revalued at each reporting

date and any changes in fair value of the estimated liability were recorded in the consolidated statements

of earnings and comprehensive income. Included in the change in fair value at December 31, 2018 was a

goodwill charge of $1,266,849 offset by a gain on the adjustment of the fair value of consideration of

$1,156,139 (see Note 12).

20. DIVIDENDS

The Company declares and pays cash dividends on a monthly basis to shareholders. The total amount of

dividends declared by the Company for year ended December 31, 2019 and 2018 were $12,645,489 or

$0.456 per share and $9,361,258 or $0.456 per share, respectively. The monthly dividend was $0.038 per

share in all periods.

21. SHARE CAPITAL

Authorized

Common shares

The Company is authorized to issue an unlimited number of common shares. All common shares issued

are fully paid. The holders of common shares are entitled to share equally in dividends, returns of capital

and to vote at shareholders’ meetings.
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21. SHARE CAPITAL - continued

Shares issued and outstanding

Number of 

Common Shares Amount

Balance December 31, 2017 15,346,732 179,775,963$        

Shares issued pursuant to:
Dividend reinvestment plan (i) 43,333 992,914 
Prospectus financing, net of costs (ii) 7,745,250 183,188,546          

Balance December 31, 2018 23,135,315 363,957,423          

Shares issued pursuant to:
Dividend reinvestment plan (i) 82,220 2,130,633 
Equity incentive plan 34,052 - 
Prospectus financing, net of costs (ii) 5,605,100 138,375,634          
Contingent equity consideration (iii) 498,157 (2,415,860) 

Balance December 31, 2019 29,354,844 502,047,830$        

(i) Dividend reinvestment plan

On October 13, 2015, the Company announced the implementation of a dividend reinvestment plan 

(“DRIP”). The DRIP allows eligible shareholders of PLC to reinvest their cash dividends into additional 

common shares of PLC, which will be issued from treasury or purchased on the open market on the 

applicable dividend payment date. If common shares are issued from treasury, the price at which such 

common shares are issued will be the volume weighted trading price of the Company’s common shares 

over the five business days immediately preceding such dividend payment date less a discount, if any, of 

up to 5%, at the Company’s election. The Company has determined to set the initial discount for purchases 

under the DRIP at 3%. The Company may, subject to the terms of the DRIP, alter or eliminate any discount 

at any time. For the year ended December 31, 2019, 82,220 common shares were issued under the DRIP 

(for the year ended December 31, 2018 – 43,333).  
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21. SHARE CAPITAL – continued

(ii) Prospectus financings

On May 4, 2018, the Company completed a subscription receipts offering of 7,745,250 subscription 

receipts at a price of $24.50 per subscription receipt for a total of gross proceeds of $189,758,625, including 

the exercise in full of the over-allotment option. The net proceeds from the sale of common shares were 

used partially to fund the cash portion of the purchase price for the acquisition of Signature and for strategic 

growth initiatives including acquisitions and for general corporate purposes. The issuance included 

transaction costs of $6,570,079 inclusive of $338,100 after tax in management compensation. 

On April 23, 2019, the Company completed a bought deal financing, issuing 5,605,100 common shares at 

a price of $25.65 per common share for a total of gross proceeds of $143,770,815, including the exercise 

in full of the over-allotment option. The net proceeds of this offering were used to repay approximately 

$40 million of outstanding indebtedness under the Company’s credit facility and for strategic growth 

initiatives including acquisitions and for general corporate purposes. The issuance included transaction 

costs of $7,355,072 inclusive of $496,125 after tax in management compensation. The Company recognized 

a deferred tax asset of $1,939,890 from the transaction costs 

(iii) Contingent equity consideration

On May 15, 2019, the Company finalized an agreement it entered into on April 1, 2019, providing for the 

early termination of the earnout agreements relating to the Company’s 2017 acquisition of Saber 

Management, LLC (“Saber”). The agreement provides, among other things, for the vendor of Saber to 

forego future earnout entitlements in consideration for a cash payment of approximately $600,000, deferred 

cash payments of approximately $400,000, the issuance of 498,157 common shares and the issuance of 

46,000 restricted share units of the Company resulting in a gain on settlement of $179,633. The gain is 

included in other income (expenses) in the consolidated statements of earnings. 

22. CAPITAL MANAGEMENT

The Company defines capital as the aggregate of shareholders’ equity and debt. The Company’s equity

comprises the shares of the Company subscribed for by the shareholders. On a quarterly basis, as part of

its credit agreement with respect to its long-term loan, the Company monitors both its debt service

coverage ratio and its interest coverage ratio. The Company continues to meet these requirements. The

Board of Directors manages the dividend policy and the pricing of products and services of the Company

so as to ensure that there is adequate cash flow to fund the Company’s operations and safeguard the

Company's ability to continue as a going concern so that it can continue to provide returns for

shareholders.
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23. COSTS AND OPERATING EXPENSES BY NATURE

December 31, December 31,

2019 2018

Personnel expenses 87,364,897$        60,752,005$        

Cost of sales - merchandise inventories, cemetery

lots, crypts and niches (Note 5) 30,929,004 21,475,091

Cost of sales - contributions to care and maintenance

trust funds 7,389,042 6,274,040

Maintenance 17,040,537 12,393,172

Advertising and selling 15,762,717 6,918,814

Depreciation of property and equipment,

amortization of intangibles (Notes 8 and 12) 13,459,547 5,673,857

Others 43,186,359 25,663,764

Total of costs, operating, general and administrative,

maintenance, advertising and selling expenses 215,132,103$       139,150,743$       

Personnel expenses include salaries, wages, commissions and incentive compensation. 

24. INTEREST EXPENSE

December 31, December 31,

2019 2018

Interest on:

Revolving loan facility 4,572,542$          1,921,605$          

Mortgages 42,665 107,588 

Other debt 452,437 211,504 

Lease liabilities 338,462 - 

Interest capitalized to construction (33,941) (5,436) 

Amortization of finance fees and transaction costs 296,245 161,873 

Total 5,668,410$          2,397,134$          

25. EQUITY INCENTIVE PLAN

At the annual and special meeting of shareholders held on May 31, 2016, the shareholders of the Company

approved an equity incentive plan (the “EIP”). The purpose of the EIP is to, among other things: (i)

provide the Company with a mechanism to attract, retain and motivate qualified directors, officers and

employees of the Company, including its subsidiaries, (ii) reward directors, officers and employees that

have been granted awards under the EIP for their contributions toward the long-term goals and success of

the Company, and  (iii) enable and encourage such directors, officers and employees to acquire common

shares of the Company as long-term investments and proprietary interests in the Company.
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25. EQUITY INCENTIVE PLAN – continued

On May 31, 2019, the shareholders of the Company approved an amended and restated omnibus EIP,

consisting of DSUs, RSUs, Performance Share Units (“PSUs”), and Options to acquire common shares

(“Options”). The number of common shares that may be issued upon the settlement of awards granted

under the EIP shall not exceed 2,000,000 common shares of the Company.

The EIP provides flexibility to the Company to grant equity-based incentive awards in the form of DSUs,

RSUs, PSUs and Options.

The Board plans to credit all DSUs and RSUs with dividend equivalents in the form of additional DSUs

and RSUs, as applicable.  Dividend equivalents shall vest in proportion to, and settle in the same manner

as, the awards to which they relate.

All future grants of equity-based awards will be made pursuant to the EIP and no further equity-based

awards will be made pursuant to the 2014 ESLP plan. The 2014 ESLP will remain in effect only in respect

of outstanding equity-based awards (see Note 28).

Deferred share units

Directors are required to receive at least 50% of their annual board retainers in the form of DSUs, although

they may elect to receive a greater percentage pursuant to the terms of the EIP. A DSU is a unit equivalent

in value to a common share credited by means of a bookkeeping entry in the books of the Company. The

number of DSUs granted is determined by the five-day volume weighted average trading price (the “Market

Price”), but their value is tied to the then trading price of PLC’s common shares. Upon settlement (typically

on termination of service), holders will receive, in respect of each vested DSU, one fully paid and non-

assessable common share or cash. At this time, the Board plans to settle DSUs for shares. Subject to the

terms of an award agreement, DSUs will vest immediately at the date of grant. DSUs will be granted to

directors every three months for services rendered evenly over the next four quarters.

Under the DSU plan, the following DSUs were granted by the Company and are outstanding. Each

dividend equivalent represents one common share.

December 31, December 31, 

2019 2018

Outstanding, beginning of the year 30,450 19,984 

Awarded 10,920 9,991 

Redemptions (5,091) - 

Dividend equivalents 581 475 

Outstanding, end of the year 36,860 30,450

Restricted share units 

A RSU is a unit equivalent in value to a common share credited by means of a bookkeeping entry in the 

books of the Company which entitles the holder to receive one common share for each RSU after a 

specified vesting period determined by the Plan Administrator (as defined in the EIP), in its sole discretion. 
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Restricted share units – continued

RSUs vest according to the terms of the applicable award agreement. All RSUs awarded to date vest within

three years of their grant date.

Upon settlement, holders will receive, in respect of each vested RSU, either: (i) one fully paid and non-

assessable common share, or (ii) subject to the approval of the Plan Administrator, a cash payment

determined with reference to the Market Price in the same manner as with DSUs. At this time, the Board

plans to settle RSUs for shares.

Under the RSU plan, the following RSUs were granted by the Company and are outstanding. Each dividend

equivalent represents one common share. 83,082 of the awarded and outstanding RSUs have vested.

December 31, December 31,

2019 2018

Outstanding, beginning of the year 176,337       104,165       

Awarded 98,141         85,885         

Forfeited - (16,297) 

Redemptions (31,928)        - 

Dividend equivalents 3,650 2,584 

Outstanding, end of the year 246,200       176,337       

Performance Share Units 

Under the PSU plan, the following PSUs were granted by the Company and are outstanding. Each dividend 

equivalent represents one common share. None of the awarded and outstanding PSUs has vested. The 

performance-based restricted share units listed will cliff vest on March 31, 2022. The actual number of 

restricted share units earned with respect to the three year performance period will be subject to a multiplier 

(of between 0 and 1.5 times) and based on the average “bonus score” (which itself is determined with 

reference to the Board-approved annual bonus score card) obtained over a three year performance period. 

December 31, December 31,

2019 2018

Outstanding, beginning of the year - - 

Awarded 60,112         - 

Forfeited - - 

Redemptions - - 

Dividend equivalents 1,154 - 

Outstanding, end of the year 61,266 - 
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Options

On May 30, 2019, 1,058,000 options were granted. Trading price at the time of the grant was $29.77. The

fair market value of options was determined using the Black-Scholes valuation model with the following

implicit assumptions: average risk-free rate of interest of 1.61%, dividend rate of 1.79%, volatility of

22.98%, forfeiture rate of 0% and an expected life of 4.2 years. In addition, due to non-vesting conditions

the options were discounted using a Cost of Carry model, which estimated an estimated term of 10.8 years

and risk-free rate of 1.77%. The options were then adjusted for non-vesting performance conditions with

a weighted average expectancy of 38%.

On July 15, 2019 320,000 options were granted. Trading price at the time of the grant was $25.39. The fair

market value of options was determined using the Black-Scholes valuation model with the following

implicit assumptions: average risk-free rate of interest of 1.52%, dividend rate of 1.79%, volatility of

22.45%, forfeiture rate of 0% and an expected life of 5 years. In addition, due to non-vesting conditions

the options were discounted using a Cost of Carry model, which estimated an estimated term of 10.8 years

and risk-free rate of 1.77%. The options were then adjusted for non-vesting performance conditions with

a weighted average expectancy of 38%.

Grant Date Expiry Date

Exercise 

Price

Opening 

Balance Granted Exercised Expired Forfeited

Closing 

Balance Vested Unvested

May 30, 2019 June 30, 2023 25.43$     1,058,000         - -           - 1,058,000        - 1,058,000 

July 15, 2019 June 30, 2023 25.39$     - 320,000 - -           - 320,000           - 320,000 

- 1,378,000 - -           - 1,378,000        - 1,378,000 

Weighted Average Exercise Price 25.42$    -$   -$  -$  25.42$   -$   25.42$    

The compensation expense in respect of EIP was $3,611,488 in 2019 and $1,185,661 in 2018, and the 

counterpart has been reflected in contributed surplus. Management plans to settle all DSUs, RSUs, PSUs 

and Options by issuing shares. When the DSUs, RSUs, PSUs and Options are settled for shares, the 

amounts previously credited to contributed surplus are transferred to share capital. 

26. INTEREST AND OTHER INCOME

2019 2018

Pre-need trust realized capital gain 4,270,633$    -$             

Finance charges 5,122,151      3,863,660     

Interest income and other 882,957         644,057       

10,275,741$  4,507,717$   

 The pre-need trust realized capital gain is comprised of realized capital gain from the pre-need trust fund 

in the state of Michigan. 
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27. OTHER INCOME (EXPENSES)

Other income (expenses) is comprised mainly of additional board and professional fees of approximately

$716,000. During the year, the board established a strategic committee to assess governance and succession

planning. Also included in other income (expenses) is a gain on Saber’s contract settlement of

approximately $180,000 and a net gain on the sale of properties of approximately $116,000.

28. INCOME TAXES

Income taxes

The following are the major components of the income tax expense:

December 31, December 31,

2019 2018

Current tax expense 1,907,775$   771,783$      

Deferred tax expense 880,317        1,394,099     

Total 2,788,092$   2,165,882$   

The reconciliation of the difference between the income tax expense using the statutory tax rate and the 

effective tax rate for the years ended December 31, 2019 and 2018 is as follows: 

December 31, December 31,

2019 2018

Earnings before income taxes 10,074,203$        9,285,463$          

Combined Canadian federal and provincial statutory rates 26.50% 26.50%

Income taxes based on combined Canadian statutory income tax rates 2,669,664$          2,460,648$          

Difference in foreign tax rates (236,999) 42,854 

Tax rate changes and other adjustments 551,335 100,994 

Share based compensation and other non-deductible expenses 308,051 308,392 

Impact of non-taxable dividend income (636,000) (613,415) 

Tax exempt entities 132,041 (133,591) 

Income tax (recovery) expense 2,788,092$          2,165,882$          
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Deferred tax assets and liabilities

December 31, December 31,

2019 2018

Deferred Tax Assets (Liabilities)- Canada

Non-capital losses carried forward-Canada 3,381,292$      2,238,726$      

Share issuance and finance costs 3,519,842        3,127,994        

Other deferred tax and intangible assets (147,514)         - 

Property and equipment (894,986)         (1,253,074)      

Net deferred income tax asset 5,858,634$      4,113,646$      

Deferred Tax Assets (Liabilities) - US

Net operating losses carried forward 4,436,218$      2,303,339$      

Pre-need sales adjustment - 1,569,265        

Stock Based Compensation 839,380          - 

Other deferred tax assets 679,912          772,720          

Accrued expenses 1,398,020        - 

Deferred revenue 3,896,269        907,577          

Property and equipment (3,163,506)      (1,203,951)      

Tax exempt entities - (361,488)         

Inventories (3,262,611)      (1,241,490)      

Goodwill and intangibles (5,655,435)      (3,074,759)      

Deferred commission (5,713,064)      (4,642,209)      

Net deferred income tax asset (liability) (6,544,817)$     (4,970,996)$     

Deferred tax assets and liabilities have been offset where they relate to income taxes levied by the same 

taxation authority and the Company has the legal right and intent to offset. 

Movement in net deferred tax asset - Canada 

December 31, December 31,

2019 2018

Balance at the beginning of the year 4,113,646$     2,930,788$     

Recognized in profit/loss (40,271)           (546,904)         

Recognized in equity 1,785,259       2,257,773       

Goodwill - (528,011)         

Balance at the end of the year 5,858,634$     4,113,646$     

Deferred tax assets have been recognized in respect of these items because it is probable that future taxable 

profit will be available against which the Company can utilize the benefits therefrom.  
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28. INCOME TAXES – continued

Movement in net deferred tax asset (liability) - US

December 31, December 31,

2019 2018

Balance at the beginning of the year (4,970,996)$    51,408$          

Recognized in profit/loss (840,046)         (847,194)         

Recognized in equity 1,329,321       (4,403,336)      

Goodwill (2,063,096)      228,126          

Balance at the end of the year (6,544,817)$    (4,970,996)$    

The Company’s Canadian non-capital losses expire as follows: 

2026 24,093$        

2028 93,388          

2031 27,125          

2032 13,008          

2033 - 

2034 5,049            

2036 1,773,139     

2037 2,965,120     

2038 2,731,499     

2039 5,258,157     

12,890,578$  

29. RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS AND BALANCES

Employee share loan plan

At the annual and special meeting of shareholders held on June 18, 2013, the shareholders of the Company

approved an employee share loan plan - the “ESLP”.

Amounts issued under the ESLP were as follows:

• On October 7, 2013, the Company loaned $1,575,000 to Nine Two Seven Limited to acquire

210,000 common shares of the Company. The loan bears interest at a rate of 3.2% per annum

payable upon maturity and will mature on August 27, 2023;

• On January 7, 2015, the Company loaned $746,200 to Nine Two Seven Limited to acquire

65,000 common shares of the Company. The loan bears interest at a rate of 3.2% per annum

payable upon maturity and will mature on January 7, 2025

       Subsequent to year end the two loans described above were forgiven. 
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29. RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS AND BALANCES – continued

On January 7, 2015, under the ESLP the Company loaned $1,258,750 to Leeder Holdings Inc. to acquire

125,000 common shares of the Company. Leeder Holding Inc. is owned by an officer and director of the

Company. The loan bears interest at a rate of 3.2% per annum payable upon maturity and will mature on

January 7, 2025.

Total loans outstanding under the ESLP, including accrued interest amounted to $2,712,688 at December

31, 2019 (at December 31, 2018 - $3,063,666). Interest income earned by the Company for the years ended

December 31, 2019 and 2018 was $92,413 and $97,857, respectively.

At the annual and special meeting of shareholders held on May 31, 2016, the shareholders of the Company

approved the EIP.

Key management compensation

Key management includes the members of the Board of Directors, the Chief Executive Officer, the

President, the Chief Financial Officer and the Chief Operating Officer. The compensation paid or payable

to key management is shown below:

December 31, December 31,

2019 2018

Directors’ fees 
and management compensation 4,084,958$       2,401,971$       

Directors’ fees and management compensation included in share-based incentive for the years ended 

December 31, 2019 and 2018 were $1,414,079 and $249,688 respectively. Included in accounts payable and 

accrued liabilities are directors’ fees and management compensation of $809,890 (at December 31,2018 - 

$549,609). 

30. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS AND FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT

Fair value of financial instruments

Cash, accounts receivable, pre-need receivables, employee share loan, contingent payment, trade payables

and accrued liabilities, dividends payable, long-term debt and notes payable are financial instruments whose

fair values approximate their carrying values due to their short-term maturity, variable interest rates or

current market rates for instruments with fixed rates.
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30. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS AND FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT – continued

Fair value of financial instruments – continued

The fair value hierarchy under which the Company’s financial instruments are valued is as follows:

• Level 1 includes unadjusted quoted prices in active markets for identical assets or liabilities;

• Level 2 includes inputs other than quoted prices included in Level 1 that are observable for the assets
or liability, either directly or indirectly;

• Level 3 includes inputs for the assets or liability that are not based on observable market data.

As at December 31, 2019, the fair value of the secured debt investment in Humphrey’s (see Note 13) is 

valued under Level 3. 

As at December 31, 2019, the care and maintenance and pre-need merchandise and service trust funds and 

related liabilities are carried at fair value under Level 1, Level 2, Level 3 and amortized cost. 

The trust assets are valued as follows: 

Care and maintenance trust fund investments at December 31, 2019

Level 1 Level 2 Level 3 Amortized

Cost

Quoted market 

price

Valuation 

technique - 

observable 

market inputs

Valuation 

technique - non-

observable 

market inputs

cost

Cash and cash equivalents 10,302,565$     10,306,689$    -$   -$  -$  10,306,689$     

Equities 89,206,429      99,989,034      - - - 99,989,034       

Fixed income 79,843,248      59,520,055      - 9,753,663 12,534,171      81,807,889       

Alternative investments 21,077,471      - - 22,378,232 - 22,378,232 

Preferred stocks 9,962,062        10,013,142      - - - 10,013,142       

210,391,775$   179,828,920$  -$   32,131,895$     12,534,171$     224,494,986$   

Total fair value

Care and maintenance trust fund investments at December 31, 2018

Level 1 Level 2 Level 3 Amortized

Cost

Quoted market 

price

Valuation 

technique - 

observable 

market inputs

Valuation 

technique - non-

observable 

market inputs

cost

Cash and cash equivalents 8,347,173$    8,378,916$    -$   -$  -$  8,378,916$   

Equities 87,964,536      88,941,462      - 233,049 - 89,174,511 

Fixed income 71,426,289      54,624,386      - 9,956,992 5,391,003        69,972,381      

Alternative investments 16,143,442      - - 16,772,362 - 16,772,362 

Preferred stocks 12,288,336      11,629,086      - - - 11,629,086      

196,169,776$   163,573,850$   -$   26,962,403$     5,391,003$    195,927,256$   

Total fair value
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30. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS AND FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT – continued

Fair value of financial instruments – continued

Certain fixed income investments that were previously presented as fixed income Level 2 in the amount of
$43,062,095 have been reclassified to alternative investments Level 3 for $2,728,400, fixed income Level
1for $37,951,911 and fixed income at amortized cost for $2,381,784, based on their classification.

Pre-need merchandise and service trust fund investments at December 31, 2019

Level 1 Level 2 Level 3 Amortized

Cost

Quoted market 

price

Valuation 

technique - 

observable 

market inputs

Valuation 

technique - non-

observable 

market inputs

cost

Cash and cash equivalents 28,658,480$     28,692,429$    -$   -$  -$  28,692,429$     

GIC's 29,753,510      29,753,510      - - - 29,753,510      

Equities 68,352,424      80,151,449      - - - 80,151,449      

Fixed income 77,875,056      72,981,235      - 5,173,567 1,074,346        79,229,148      

Alternative investments 34,798,443      - - 36,954,092 - 36,954,092 

Preferred stocks 2,376,524        2,369,757        - - - 2,369,757        

241,814,437$   213,948,380$  -$   42,127,659$     1,074,346$    257,150,385$   

Total fair value

Pre-need merchandise and service trust fund investments at December 31, 2018

Level 1 Level 2 Level 3 Amortized 

Cost

Quoted market 

price

Valuation 

technique - 

observable 

market inputs

Valuation 

technique - non-

observable 

market inputs

cost

Cash and cash equivalents 12,498,274$     12,509,568$     -$   -$  -$  12,509,568$     

GIC's 31,783,609      31,783,609      - - - 31,783,609      

Equities 46,317,623      47,915,566      - - - 47,915,566      

Fixed income 49,856,323      42,195,714      - 5,434,078 1,585,443        49,215,235      

Alternative investments 16,173,334      - - 16,173,334 - 16,173,334 

Preferred stocks - - - - - - 

156,629,163$   134,404,457$   -$   21,607,412$     1,585,443$    157,597,312$   

Total fair value

Certain fixed income investments that were previously presented as fixed income Level 2 in the amount of 
$9,988,337 have been reclassified to fixed income Level 1for $2,968,816 and fixed income at amortized 
cost of $7,019,521, based on their classification. 
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30. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS AND FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT – continued

Fair value of financial instruments – continued

(i) Credit risk

The Company’s exposure to credit risk relates to its accounts receivable, pre-need receivables, other

assets and the ESLP. The Company grants credit to customers in the normal course of business. The

credit risk associated with cemetery and pre-need cemetery receivables due from customers is generally

considered minimal, because of the diversification of our customer base, burials are not performed

until customer balances are paid in full, and bad debts have not been significant relative to the volume

of business. Collections from customers on pre-need funeral or cemetery contracts that are either

placed in regulated trusts or used to pay life insurance contracts do not subject the Company to

collection risk as the revenue on such contracts has not been recognized.

In the opinion of management, none of the amounts comprising accounts receivable, pre-need

receivables, other assets and ESLP were considered impaired, except as provided for as bad debt

expenses. The Company provides an allowance for losses based on a review of the current aging of

receivables, historical experience, current and future and short-term business conditions, and

management judgement. As at December 31, 2019, the allowance for doubtful accounts was $696,355

(at December 31, 2018 - $642,853). The Company’s exposure to credit risk on the ESLP is minimized

as the Company’s shares including rights to dividends payable on such shares, are pledged as security

on the loans.

(ii) Investment risk

The Company retains independent trustees to manage the funds deposited into the cemetery perpetual

care trust and the cemetery and funeral pre-need trusts.  The trustees together with input from the

Company develop an Investment Policy Statement that governs the management of the funds

including compliance with any legislative requirements of provincial or state regulators, the asset

allocation of each fund, and the selection of investment managers. The assets of the pre-need

merchandise and service trust funds and perpetual care trust funds are invested according to the

Company’s investment policy statement by independent investment managers.

The Investment Committee of the Board of Directors of the Company regularly reviews both

compliance and performance of the individual investments.  The Company does not consider there to

be a significant credit risk for its investments based on investment grade ratings and performance

criteria used in selecting investments.

(iii) Liquidity risk

The Company is exposed to liquidity risk to the extent that it must meet its financial obligations when

due.  The Company’s approach to managing liquidity risk is to ensure that it always has sufficient cash

and other current financial assets to meet its obligations when due without incurring unacceptable

losses or damage to the Company’s reputation.  Management forecasts cash flows to identify financing

requirements. These requirements are then addressed through a combination of cash management and

access to additional capital.
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30. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS AND FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT – continued

Fair value of financial instruments – continued

Management is of the view, based on historical cash flow, that there is sufficient current and future

cash flow from its operating activities to sustain ongoing operations (including mausoleum

construction) as well as maintaining the Company’s property and equipment. Should contractual

commitments require payment, management believes that its current sources of liquidity are sufficient

to cover these obligations.

(iv) Market risk

Pre-need merchandise and service trust funds

The principal objective of the pre-need cemetery and funeral trusts are to preserve the original principal

balance invested in the trust and to achieve growth in the principal over time to preserve and increase

the purchasing power of the assets.  Since pre-need contracts generally take several years to turn at-

need, the funds deposited into the pre-need trusts are invested through several investment cycles.  The

pre-need trust funds are weighted more heavily to GICs and other fixed income assets such as

government and corporate bonds.

Perpetual Care trust funds

The cemetery perpetual care trust funds, in accordance with provincial and state regulations, emphasize

yield orientated investments that prioritize current investment income with some capital appreciation

over time in order to provide for the care and maintenance of the cemetery properties. In most

jurisdictions, only investment income received, and not capital gains, may be applied to pay the cost of

eligible care and maintenance expenses. If income from this Trust should exceed eligible care and

maintenance expenses, the excess must be added to the capital of the Trust and would not be eligible

for pay out to the Company in the future.

In order to achieve current investment income and some longer-term capital growth, the Cemetery

perpetual care fund portfolio is weighted more heavily to equity investments. The portfolio is highly

diversified and managed by professional fund managers specialized in this asset class with a long-term

view on acceptable risk tolerance.

(v) Foreign exchange risk

The consolidated financial statements are presented in Canadian dollars, which is also the parent

company’s consolidated functional currency. Each entity within the consolidated group determines its

own functional currency.

The Company does have exposure to the U.S. dollar with respect to amounts repatriated to Canada to

fund its interest and principal repayments on its credit facility and to fund its dividend payments. The

Company regularly reviews its currency hedging strategy and makes its decision based on market

conditions. As at December 31, 2019 the Company did not have any foreign currency hedges in place.
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30. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS AND FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT – continued

Fair value of financial instruments – continued

(vi) Interest rate risk

Interest rate risk on trust investments 

In the opinion of management, the Company has an acceptable level of interest rate risk with respect 

to the trust fund investments as the majority of the investments bearing interest are invested in fixed 

rate securities with varying maturities and an average period to maturity of 5 years or less. There has 

been no change in the Company's risk exposure and processes for risk management and measurement 

from 2018. The Company believes that a 1% increase or decrease in the variable market interest rate 

would not affect Company earnings from pre-need merchandise and service trusts or the perpetual 

care trust funds.   

Interest rate on revolving loan facility 

The Company has a revolving loan facility, that bears interest at the bankers’ acceptance rate plus 

1.70%. Based on the loan balances at December 31, 2019, a 1% increase or decrease in the variable 

market interest rate would have an impact of approximately $1,740,000. The Company has the ability 

to convert the loan facility to a fixed term. 

31. COMMITMENTS AND CONTINGENCIES

Litigation

From time to time the Company is subject to legal proceedings and claims arising in the ordinary course

of business. Some of the more frequent ordinary routine litigations incidental to our business are based on

burial practices claims and employment related matters. Management is of the opinion based upon

information presently available, that it is unlikely that any such liability, to the extent not provided for by

insurance or otherwise, would have a material adverse effect in relation to the Company’s consolidated

financial position, liquidity or results of operations.

Construction

The Company has five construction commitments totaling $22.8 million for the construction of a funeral

visitation and reception centre, care centre, funeral home, mausoleum and cemetery development
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32. SEGMENTED INFORMATION

IFRS 8 - “Operating Segments” defines an operating segment as a component of an entity that engages in

business activities from which it may earn revenues and incur expenses; whose operating results are

regularly reviewed by the entity’s chief operating decision maker to make decisions about resources to be

allocated to the segment and to assess its performance; and for which discrete financial information is

available.

The Company has two operating segments, one which provides goods and services associated with the

disposition and memorialization of remains in Canada and the other which provides the same goods and

services in the United States. The Company’s operating segments are consistent with its geographic

segments, and therefore the required disclosures are made below.

Geographic information

For the Company’s geographically segmented non-current assets the Company has allocated based on the

location of assets, as follows:

December 31, December 31,

2019 2018

Canada 205,799,226$       193,440,060$      

United States 1,085,202,227      758,646,561        

Total 1,291,001,453$    952,086,621$      
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32. SEGMENTED INFORMATION – continued

Geographic information – continued

For the Company’s geographically segmented revenue, the Company has allocated revenue based on the

location of the customer, as follows:

December 31, December 31,

2019 2018

Revenue:

Sales:

  Canada 35,560,443$        38,270,886$        

  United States 187,595,369        109,872,533        

Total sales 223,155,812        148,143,419        

Income from care and maintenance funds:

  Canada 5,029,639           4,332,957           

  United States 5,797,940           4,436,926           

Total income from care and maintenance funds 10,827,579         8,769,883           

Interest and other income:

  Canada 883,285 609,983 

  United States 9,392,456           3,897,734           

Total interest and other income 10,275,741         4,507,717           

Total revenue:

  Canada 41,473,367         43,213,826         

  United States 202,785,765        118,207,193        

Total Revenue 244,259,132$      161,421,019$      

33. SUBSEQUENT EVENTS

On January 31, 2020 the Company completed the previously announced acquisition of all the outstanding stock 

and membership interests of Family Legacy, LLC (“Family Legacy”) for a purchase price of approximately 

$40.8 million (US$30.8 million), a business with 12 locations operating in Nashville, Tennessee, as well as all of 

the outstanding membership interests in WG-TN and HHMG a large combination business located in 

Nashville, Tennessee. The above acquisition expands PLC’s U.S. operations into the high-growth middle 

Tennessee metropolitan market by adding four combination funeral home and cemetery properties, seven 

stand-alone funeral homes and two stand-alone cemeteries. The acquisition of Family Legacy and Harpeth Hills 

is in line with PLC’s communicated growth strategy. The transaction was funded with proceeds from PLC’s 

existing credit facility. 

The initial accounting for these business acquisitions was not complete at the time that these consolidated 

financial statements were approved by the Board of Directors. As such, certain disclosures required under IFRS 

3 in respect of the above acquisitions cannot yet be made. 

On March 12, 2020 the Coronavirus or COVID-19, was declared a pandemic by the World Health 

Organization. This has resulted in significant economic uncertainty and consequently, it is difficult to reliably 

measure the potential impact of this on the Company’s future business and financial results.  
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34. COMPARATIVE FIGURES

Certain comparative figures have been reclassified to conform to the December 31, 2018 consolidated financial 

statements presentation including: 

i) Reclassification of $617,166 for the twelve month period ended December 31, 2018 in costs to
maintenance expenses to better reflect the nature of the labour costs. Direct labour costs for
performing cemetery services are included in costs.

61



Head Office
2 St. Clair Ave W, Suite 1300 (Floor 12A)
Toronto, Ontario M4V 1L5 
www.parklawncorp.com


	5 - Audited Annual Finanical Statements.pdf
	1
	2
	3
	4
	5
	6
	7

	2019 Annual Report - Executives and Director bio page.pdf
	Untitled
	Untitled
	Untitled
	Untitled




